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FINANCIAL
HIGHLIGHTS

GROUP REVENUE

(in S$'000)

REVENUE - FACILITIES MANAGEMENT

NET ASSETS NET ASSETS VALUE PER SHARE (CENTS)

REVENUE - PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT AND 
INVESTMENT

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAX

BASIC (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE (CENTS)

FY 2013

FY 2013

FY 2013 FY 2013

FY 2013

FY 2013

FY 2013

14,039

4,397

133,408 1.17

(0.050)

(5,411)

9,642

5,541

5,463

137,185 1.22

1.09

0.140

0.150

15,443

16,021

78

24,841

4,839

117,149

FY 2012

FY 2012

FY 2012 FY 2012

FY 2012

FY 2012

FY 2012

FY 2011

FY 2011

FY 2011 FY 2011

FY 2011

FY 2011

FY 2011
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“Providing 
customers with high 
quality projects will 

remain a critical 
focus for the Group 

in 2014 as we look 
into more regional 

expansions.”

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I am pleased to deliver to our stakeholders 
TOP GLOBAL LIMITED’s annual report for the financial year ended 31 December 
2013.

SINGAPORE PROPERTY MARKET
2013 has been a tough year for the Group as we saw very challenging conditions 
forming and taking shape across the entire local property industry. Most notable 
among these challenges were the Singapore government’s announcement of 
the Total Debt Servicing Ratio (“TDSR”) in July 2013 to help curb rising property 
prices, and the significant ready supply of private housing and Executive 
Condominium units.

With the TDSR limit, the property price quantum becomes more essential as 
larger loan quantum will be required for certain prospective buyers. As a result, 
it becomes increasingly challenging for potential buyers to acquire, not to 
mention various cooling measures that have already put off many investment 
buyers. The ready supply of newly completed condominiums is a hard hit for us 
as housing prices get driven down.

This challenge was taken further when the government informed during the 
Budget 2014 of its decision to continue with the cooling measures. With cooling 
measures staying put, this meant that we have to swim against the tide in 
maintaining profitability as these measures by the government will have some 
effect on the demand of housing property.

Despite these challenges, we believe that the demand from first time buyers 
and genuine home buyers in Singapore will continue to be stable as there is still 
demand from these groups of people that need to be satisfied. To help tackle 
these problems, the market has taken steps to make adjustments on the prices 
in respect to the current market conditions. Meanwhile, long-term investors may 
tap on this opportunity to enhance their investment portfolio.



LETTER
to shareholders

3TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

KEY HIGHLIGHTS IN 2013
In order to pursue operational excellence and continue 
to meet the demands of potential customers, the Group 
has specially launched three new freehold residential 
developments – The Maisons comprises of R Maison and 
E Maison at Braddell Road and The Quinn at Bartley Road 
in the first half and second half of 2013 respectively.

While The Maisons promotes city fringe living with great 
accessibility to the MRT stations and the city via a quick 
drive on CTE, The Quinn is a freehold low-rise development 
that allows potential owners of the property to revel in 
the sensory pleasures of calm reflective pools, lush Asian 
foliage and charming courtyards.

To help restore the Group’s profitability and pursue other 
growth opportunities, we exited our interests in our wholly-
owned subsidiary, Top Global Properties Pte. Ltd. without 
hurting ourselves in the process during the financial year 
2013. Sale of the property located at Ang Mo Kio Central 
was successfully completed on 11 January 2013 at a 
consideration of S$13.8 million.

The Group also made an important decision to expand 
beyond Singapore during the year. On 10 December 
2013, the Company announced the proposed acquisition 
of a 71.52% equity interest in Indonesia’s PT Suryamas 
Dutamakmur Tbk which has a rich wealth of experience 
in developing real estate properties, sale of lands and 
houses including township project like Harvest City and 
premium residential properties like Rancamaya Golf Estate, 
Mahogany Residence and Royal Tajur, as well as golf 
courses – Rancamaya Golf & Country Club, resort facilities 
and hotel operations.

PT Suryamas Dutamakmur Tbk was established in 1989 
by two major shareholders with varied and extensive 
experience in the Indonesian real estate industry. 
PT Suryamas Dutamakmur Tbk was listed on the Jakarta 
Stock Exchange and the Surabaya Stock Exchange on 
19 December 1996. On 30 October 2007, Surabaya Stock 
Exchange was officially merged to Jakarta Stock Exchange 
and becoming Indonesia Stock Exchange as a single 
exchange operating in Indonesia.

The numerous awards that PT Suryamas Dutamakmur 
Tbk have garnered are testimony to its strong belief in 
professionalism, providing excellent service and active 
engagement in the community.

The award winning Rancamaya Golf & Country Club was 
launched in 1995 and designed by the well-known golf 
course architect, Ted Robinson. The Rancamaya Golf & 
Country Club consists of an 18-hole golf course. Some of 
the awards garned include “World Top 1000 Golf Course 
2009” from ROLEX, “Best International Golf Course 2011” 
from International Property Awards and “The Best Golf 
Club in South East Asia 2008-2010” from the Hospitality 
Asia Platinum Awards.

On the other hand, The R Hotel Rancamaya which is 
located in Rancamaya is expected to open in June 2014. 

With a land area of approximately 5 hectares, the R 
Hotel Rancamaya comprises of 150 rooms which include  
6 de-lux rooms and 10 meeting rooms accomodating up to 
800 guests, and also offers premier MICE facilities.

PT Suryamas Dutamakmur Tbk’s impressive portfolio and 
experience were what the Group has been actively seeking 
in a partnership over the past few years. The consideration 
was arrived at on a willing seller willing buyer basis after 
taking into account various factors such as the existing 
assets, financial position, indicative valuation and business 
prospects of PT Suryamas Dutamakmur Tbk.

With the acquisition expected to be completed by the 
beginning of 2014, this meant that the Group together 
with PT Suryamas Dutamakmur Tbk will have a larger 
asset and equity base, which not only will enhance the 
Company’s fund-raising capabilities, but also help generate 
the improvements needed in operational efficiency. In 
addition, this acquisition will also allow Top Global Limited 
immediate access to the Indonesian property market and 
enhance its vision to be a leading property developer in 
the region, as well as provide additional sources of revenue 
and diversify the Group’s existing business.

MOVING FORWARD
Cost of operation is expected to increase due to higher 
construction costs and labour shortage in the coming 
year. To help diversify our business, 2014 will be a year of 
continued transformation for Top Global Limited as the 
Company’s activities will not be restricted to dealing with 
only residential properties but also commercial properties 
and other developments in the region.

Providing customers with high quality projects will remain 
a critical focus for the Group in 2014 as we look into 
more regional expansions. Although 2014 will be another 
challenging year due to higher supply of completed units 
and TDSR curbing buyers’ purchasing power, we remained 
positive that the Group will be able to achieve stable 
progress and growth amidst this challenging environment.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
On behalf of the Board of Directors, I would like to extend 
my sincerest gratitude to all our employees and the board 
who have over the past year, worked with dedication and 
commitment in delivering promises as well as rose above 
challenges to satisfy the needs of our customers and 
organisational goals. It is also my pleasure to thank our 
customers, shareholders and partners for their patience, 
as well as the unfaltering confidence and trust in us. As 
we move forward with our existing business, we will also 
be actively exploring and seeking new opportunities that 
may yield better returns for our shareholders. Your support 
will be very important to us as this vote of confidence will 
give us the needed encouragement. I look forward to your 
continued generous support in the new financial year as we 
chart new directions for our organisation.

SUKMAWATI WIDJAJA
Executive Chairman
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MDM OEI SIU HOA @ SUKMAWATI WIDJAJA

Executive Chairman

Mdm Sukmawati Widjaja was appointed Executive Chairman of Top Global 
Limited on 12 March 2010. In her four decades as one of Asia’s most 
influential business pioneers, Mdm Sukmawati has built up a striking track 
record in sectors as diverse as property, banking and agriculture. She is the 
Vice-Chairman of the family-controlled Sinar Mas Group (which was founded 
by her father, Mr Eka Tjipta Widjaja). After taking over the reins in 1988, she 
was instrumental in maintaining the group’s lead as one of Indonesia’s top 
conglomerates, with interests ranging from palm oil and paper, to food and 
property development. Her investment experience is also extensive. She was 
an international figure in numerous high-profile mega projects. Over the 
years, she has developed pivotal business as well as personal connections 
worldwide. Apart from having been granted audiences with top potential 
leaders of the US, China, Indonesia, Singapore and other countries, she has 
access to business tycoons in almost every industry internationally. Moreover, 
Mdm Sukmawati has extensive expertise and experience in taking qualified 
companies through IPOs and RTOs at the world’s major exchanges and 
has been part of senior management in several listed companies. With her 
long-time passion for real estate, Mdm Sukmawati sees great potential for 
Top Global Limited to work together on suitable projects with the region’s 
largest property players. Her vast connections should prove invaluable as 
Top Global Limited expands in Singapore, China, Indonesia, Malaysia and 
other countries.

MR HANO MAELOA
Chief Executive Officer & Executive Director

Mr Maeloa was appointed an executive director of Top Global Limited 
on 27 July 2007 and its Managing Director on 12 March 2010, a position 
redesignated as Chief Executive Officer on 8 November 2010. His business 
management experience spans a multitude of industries that range from 
banking and securities & fund management to real estate and golf & country 
clubs, as well as shipping and food & beverages. He has excellent business 
contacts throughout the Asia-Pacific region. Mr Maeloa has been Chief 
Executive Officer of Pancon Marine & Shipping Services since 2003 as well 
as a director at Bintan Golden Shipping since 2002. On the investment 
front, he gained valuable experience at companies such as Harumdana 
Sekuritas, where he served as a vice-president director for five years. In the 
food industry, he earned his spurs at the likes of Wendy Foods in Hong 
Kong, where he was Managing Director for six years. Currently, Mr Maeloa 
is a director of Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments, a company listed on the 
Singapore Exchange. He graduated with a BSc in business administration 
from the University of Southern California.

MDM OEI SIU HOA @ 
SUKMAWATI WIDJAJA
Executive Chairman

MR HANO MAELOA
Chief Executive Officer & 
Executive Director
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MS JENNIFER CHANG SHYRE GWO
Chief Operating Officer & Executive Director

Ms Chang was appointed Chief Operating Officer and an executive director 

on 8 November 2010. Her task is to oversee the Group’s business and 

operations, which includes but is not limited to business development, 

finance, administration, corporate secretarial, corporate governance and 

communications. She has more than 20 years of exposure to and experience 

in operational accounting and various corporate functions across the Asia-

Pacific region. Ms Chang joined Top Global Limited after leaving Auric 

Pacific, where she had been Chief Executive Officer of its food division 

since 2008. Previously, she was regional director of controlling & treasury at 

Kraft Foods Asia Pacific Services and finance director at GE Hydro Asia, a 

General Electric joint venture in Hangzhou, China. She is a member of both 

the Institute of Certified Public Accountants of Singapore and CPA Australia. 

Her master’s in business administration was earned at Victoria University in 

Australia.

MR DANIEL YEO CHIN TUAN
Lead Independent Director

Mr Yeo was appointed an independent director of Top Global Limited, as 

well as the chairman of its audit and Remuneration committees and a member 

of its nominating committee, on 26 April 2010. His experience in the financial 

industry spans more than 25 years. He began his career with Refco Singapore 

as a vice president in the 1980s and later became a pioneer in the Singapore 

futures and options market. After witnessing the birth of the Singapore 

International Monetary Exchange (SIMEX), he built up a distinguished track 

record servicing high net worth clients in foreign exchange and bullion 

trading. While he was a director at ING Futures & Options (S) Pte Ltd, he 

assisted with the acquisition of Barings (S) Pte Ltd. He also served as an 

executive director at UOB International Treasury, establishing business 

linkages with international brokerages. In 2003, he joined Man Financial (S) 

Pte Ltd (now known as MF Global Singapore) and subsequently became its 

Chief Executive Officer. Currently, Mr Yeo is also the Managing Partner of 

JSDA Pte Ltd.

MS JENNIFER CHANG  
SHYRE GWO
Chief Operating Officer & 
Executive Director

MR DANIEL YEO CHIN TUAN
Lead Independent Director



BOARD OF
DIRECTORS

6 TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

DR LAM LEE G.
Independent Director

Dr Lam was appointed an independent director on 26 April 2010. Currently, 
he is also Chairman for Hong Kong and Senior Advisor for Asia at Macquarie 
Capital Advisors. He started his career in Canada at Bell-Northern Research 
(the R&D arm of Nortel) and in Hong Kong at Hong Kong Telecom. He later 
joined Singapore Technologies Telemedia (then part of Temasek Holdings) 
and BOC International Holdings (the international investment banking arm 
of the Bank of China group), where he served as Vice-Chairman and Chief 
Operating Officer of its investment banking division. Until late 2006, Dr Lam 
was President and Chief Executive Officer of Chia Tai Enterprises International. 
He holds a BSc in sciences and mathematics, an MSc in systems science, 
an MBA from the University of Ottawa in Canada, a postgraduate diploma 
in public administration from Carleton University in Canada and a PhD in 
economic development from the University of Hong Kong. In the legal arena, 
Dr Lam has an LLB (honours) from Manchester Metropolitan University in the 
UK, an LLM from the University of Wolverhampton in the UK and a PCLL from 
the City University of Hong Kong.

MS MIMI YULIANA MAELOA
Non-Executive Director

Ms Mimi was appointed a non-executive director on 26 April 2010. Ms Mimi 
has served in various positions at her family’s businesses and currently works at 
Golden Agri International. She has notable experience in banking, investment 
and asset management, having worked at the Union Bank of Switzerland in 
Singapore, Credit Suisse First Boston Hong Kong Chase Manhattan Bank in 
New York, JP Morgan in Singapore and Goldman Sachs in Singapore. She 
graduated with a BSc in finance from the University of Southern California and 
holds an MBA from Woodbury University in California.

DR LAM LEE G.
Independent Director

MS MIMI YULIANA MAELOA
Non-Executive Director
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MS AUDREY HENG
Financial Controller

M s  A u d r e y  H e n g  j o i n e d  T o p 
Global Limited in December 2013 
as Financial Controller overseeing 
the Group’s finance function. She 
i s  respons ib le for  f inanc ia l  and 
accounting matters, internal control, 
corporate governance, t reasury , 
corporate finance and taxation. Prior 
to joining Top Global Limited, she 
was with Foo Kon Tan Grant Thornton 
LLP for 10 years, serving as Senior 
Audit Manager before leaving.

She graduated with a Bachelor of 
Accountancy degree from Nanyang 
Technological University of Singapore 
and is a member of Inst itute of 
Singapore Chartered Accountants 
since March 2008.

MR DONNY HO
Project Manager

Mr Donny Ho joined Top Global 
Limited in March 2013 as Project 
Manager ,  manag ing the  Group 
property development portfol io. 
He has almost 20 years of working 
e x p e r i e n c e  i n  t h e  S i n g a p o r e ’ s 
building and construction sector, and 
participated in various commercial, 
r e s i d e n t i a l ,  i n s t i t u t i o n  a n d 
infrastructure projects in both private 
and public sector. Prior to joining 
Top Global Limited, he worked as 
a Project Manager in a grade A1 
construction company.

He holds a degree in Applied Science 
in Construction Management from 
the Royal Melbourne Institute of 
Technology in Australia.

MS ROSE LING
General Administration Manager – 
Human Resource, Sales & Marketing

Ms Rose Ling joined Top Global 
Limited in May 2010 as General 
Adminis t rat ion Manager .  She i s 
responsible for the Group’s Human 
Resource/Administrative and Sales 
& Marketing matters. For the past 
12 years, Ms Ling has accumulated 
vast working experiences in various 
industry sectors. The core function 
s h e  h a s  p e r f o r m e d  i n c l u d e s 
k e y  a c c o u n t s  r e l a t i o n s ,  o f f i c e 
administration and human resource 
management.

She holds a Diploma in Economics 
from London School of Economics 
and graduated from University of 
London with a Bachelor of Science 
(Management) with honours.

MR YEI MAUNG
Project Manager

Mr Yei Maung joined Top Global 
L imi ted in September 2002.  He 
has more than 19 years of working 
experience in Singapore’s building 
and construct ion sector ,  hav ing 
part ic ipated in a wide range of 
projects that include flatted factories, 
schools, condominiums, community 
clubs, residential flats and cluster 
housing.

He has a degree in applied science 
(construct ion management) f rom 
the Royal Melbourne Institute of 
Technology in Australia.
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PT Suryamas Dutamakmur Tbk is an Indonesia-based 
property development company listed on the Indonesia 
Stock Exchange. The entity engages in the property 
business, including selling of land, houses and shophouses, 
operating a golf course, country club and other resort 
facilities. Its projects include Rancamaya Golf Estate, 
Mahogany Residence, Royal Tajur and Harvest City. 
The numerous awards that PT Suryamas Dutamakmur 
Tbk have garnered are testimony to its strong belief in 
professionalism, providing excellent service and active 
engagement in the community.

RANCAMAYA GOLF ESTATE

This 778 hectares project was launched in 1993. The estate 
encompasses residential, commercial and golf course 
facilities. The award winning Rancamaya Golf & Country 
Club was launched in 1995 and designed by the well-known 
golf course architect, Ted Robinson. The Rancamaya Golf 
& Country Club consists of an 18-hole golf course. Some of 
the awards garned include “World Top 1000 Golf Course 
2009” from ROLEX, “Best International Golf Course 2011” 
from International Property Awards and “The Best Golf 
Club in South East Asia 2008-2010” from the Hospitality 
Asia Platinum Awards. The R Hotel Rancamaya which is 

Head Office:
Sudirman Plaza Business Complex
Plaza Marein, 16th Floor, Jl. Jendral Sudirman
Kav. 76-78, Jakarta Selatan 12910
Tel. (62-21) 5793 6733
Fax. (62-21) 5793 6730
E-mail: finance@rancamaya.com,
marketing@rancamaya.com
Website: www.rancamaya.com

Bogor Office:
Jl. Graha Yasa No. SH – 01
Rancamaya Golf Estate, Ciawi – Bogor 16720
Tel. (62-251) 8242 278
Fax. (62-251) 8242 284

located in Rancamaya is expected to open in June 2014. 
With a land area of approximately 5 hectares, the R Hotel 
Rancamaya comprises of 140 rooms, 10 villa rooms and 7 
meeting rooms accommodating up to 800 persons, and 
also offers premier MICE facilities. An artist’s impression of 
the hotel is shown in page 9.

ROYAL TAJUR

The project sits on a land bank of approximately 55.7 
hectares. This residential project in Bogor district 
commenced in July 2012. Its proximity to the city centre of 
Bogor has been a key factor in its successful launch. The 
project has approximately 48.5 hectares of land yet to be 
developed.

HARVEST CITY

This 1,050 hectares township in Cileungsi area, lying in 
both Bogor and Bekasi districts, about 35km from Jakarta, 
was launched in October 2008. Its masterplan calls for 
a fully integrated township with facilities for lifestyle, 
entertainment, education, healthcare and worship. The 
project has approximately 90% of land not yet developed.
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The Best MICE Hotel in Indonesia

Opens Mid 2014

√ 150 Rooms which includes 6 De-lux villas
√ 10 Meeting Rooms with total capacity of 800 pax
√ Ample Rooms (equals to 5 stars hotel)
√ Stylish MICE Facilities
√ 2.5 Ha Lake & Romantic Garden
√ International Award Winning Golf Course
√ Lush Greenery
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THE
MAISONS

SALES GALLERY: 1018 East Coast Parkway, 
Raintree Cove #02-04

Singapore 449877
open daily 11 am to 8 pm

SALES ENQUIRY: 6288 0009
www.themaisons.com.sg

Artists Impression
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THE
quinn

Artists Impression
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The Group’s wholly-owned subsidiary, Raintree Cove Pte. Ltd., manages the 

area formerly known as the Singapore Tennis Centre, which is located along 

the scenic East Coast beach. The Group has secured a good mix of tenants 

such as Long Beach Seafood Restaurant, Waraku Japanese Restaurant and 

Polliwogs – an indoor and outdoor play arena for children. Other tenants 

include Burger King, Breeze Bar, East Coast Prawning, JuShing Jung Korean 

BBQ Restaurant, New Zealand Natural, Cylemax, Sports Planet East Coast, 

Wee Care @ the Polliwogs, Lorna Whiston Pre-School and Mind and Body 

Health etc.

Raintree Cove positions itself to serve as a ‘one-stop entertainment centre’ 

that provides sports, recreational activities and good food for families. Our 

Master lease with SLA has been renewed for the period from September 2012 

to August 2015.
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GROUP
STRUCTURE

RAINTREE COVE PTE. LTD. (RTC)100%

TOP GLOBAL PROPERTIES PTE. LTD. (TGP)100%

GMB ASSETS MANAGEMENT PTE. LTD. (GSC)100%

TOP GLOBAL CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT PTE. LTD. (TGCM)

TOP GLOBAL CHINA PTE. LTD. (TGC)100%

100%

TOP CAPITAL INVESTMENT PTE. LTD. (TCI)100%

TOP GLOBAL HOSPITALITY PTE. LTD. (TGH)100%

 TOP TOMLINSON ONE PTE. LTD. (TTO)100%

TOP TOMLINSON TWO PTE. LTD. (TTT)100%

TOP GLOBAL (M) SDN BHD (TGM)100%

WINSLAND RESOURCES INCORPORATED (BVI) (WINSLAND)100%

BARTLEY HOMES PTE. LTD. (BH)100%

TOP GLOBAL PROPERTY INVESTMENT PTE. LTD. (TGPI)100%

TOP GLOBAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT PTE. LTD. (TGREI)100%

TOP CAPITOL PTE. LTD. (TC)100%

GLOBAL CAPITOL PTE. LTD. (GC)100%

MARGARITAVILLE INVESTMENTS HOLDING PTE. LTD. (MIH)100%

GLOBAL STAR DEVELOPMENT PTE. LTD. (GSD)95%

PT. TOP GLOBAL INDONESIA  |  TGREI – 99%  |  TGPI – 1%

TOP PROPERTY INVESTMENT PTE. LTD. (TPI)  |  TC – 20%  |  GC – 80%

ENTR DEVELOPMENT PTE LTD (ED)100%

GMB CAPITAL PTE. LTD. (GMB)55%

CERAPURE PTE. LTD. (CPL)100%

PACIFIC PROSPERITY SDN. BHD  |  TGCM – 50%  |  TGM – 50%100%

MARVEL DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS PTE LTD100%

GERBANG DEVELOPMENT HOLDINGS PTE LTD100%

GLOBAL REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT PTE. LTD. (GREI)  |  TGL – 100%100%
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TURNOVER
For the financial year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), 
the Group recorded revenue of S$14.0 mil l ion, as 
compared to S$5.5 million over the corresponding period 
for the financial year ended 31 December 2012 (“FY2012”). 
The increase in revenue was mainly due to recognition of 
revenue from sale of development properties from the 
Braddell and Bartley Projects.

GROSS PROFIT
The Group’s gross profit margin for FY2013 was 31% as 
compared to 71% in the previous year. This significant 
decline in profit margin was mainly related to the 
recognition of cost of sales from both the Braddell and 
Bartley Projects which was launched during the first and 
second half of FY2013.

OTHER INCOME
Other income in FY2013 saw a decrease of S$20.9 million 
from FY2012. This reduction in other income was primarily 
due to the absence of non-recurring gain on disposal 
arising from the sale of Group’s 30% interest in Capitol 
Project which took place on 28 May 2012.

EXPENSES
The Group’s Distribution & Marketing expenses reported 
an increase of S$1.4 million in FY2013 from S$2.3 million in 
FY2012. This additional expenditure was largely due to the 
marketing costs which were incurred during the launch of 
Braddell and Bartley Projects in FY2013. On the contrary, 
Administrative expenses in FY2013 were marked by a 14% 
decrease from S$10.2 million in 2012 to S$8.8 million. This 
reduction in Administrative expenses was primarily due 
to decrease in employee compensation and employee 
share option expenses offset by increase in legal and 
professional fees and depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment.

SHARE OF RESULTS OF ASSOCIATED COMPANIES
Following the completion of the sale of The Capitol Project 
on 28 May 2012, the Group has since ceased to record its 
share of results in the Capitol Project.

FINANCIAL POSITION
The Group’s total assets as of 31 December 2013 
amounted to S$296.4 million. This was an increase of S$1.7 
million compared to the same corresponding period for 
the financial year ended 31 December 2012. The increase 
was mainly attributable to the increase in development 
properties of S$10.6 million which were due to increase 
in costs incurred by the Braddell and Bartley projects as 
well as increase in cash and cash equivalents by S$13.9 
million as a result of net proceeds collected from sale of 
development properties from the Braddell and Bartley 
Projects of $10.8 million.

This is offset by decrease in trade and other receivables 
by S$12.0 million due to the payment received from the 
remaining proceeds of the divestment in Capitol Project, 
decrease in property, plant and equipment by S$8.1 million 
mainly attributable to reclassification of assets under 
construction amounting to S$7.9 million as at 31 December 
2012 to investment properties during the financial year and 
decrease in investment property of S$4.3 million mainly 
due to the sale of property located at Ang Mo Kio Central, 
offset by the reclassification of S$9.5 million of assets 
under construction from property, plant and equipment.

The Group’s total liabilities as of 31 December 2013 stood 
at S$163.0 million. This amount was an increase of S$5.4 
million as compared to the previous year. This increase 
can be mainly attributed to the deferred revenue of S$8.7 
million from the Braddell and Bartley Projects; the increase 
of S$3.5 million due to trade and other payables which was 
in-line with the increase in cost of sales, as well as increase 
in bank borrowings of S$3.0 million for the Braddell 
project. This was offset by the decrease in provision for 
other liabilities and charges of S$0.6 million in write-
back of provision for warranty and the sale of Top Global 
Limited’s property located at Ang Mo Kio Central which 
helped to decrease the Group’s original bank borrowings 
by S$9.2 million.

The Group has total shareholders’ equity of S$133.4 million 
as of 31 December 2013.

CASH FLOW
The Group’s net cash of S$5.0 million deployed in 
operating activities was mainly due to costs incurred by 
the Braddell and Bartley projects. The net cash generated 
from investing activities for FY2013 was S$24.1 million. This 
was mainly achieved from sales proceeds of the property 
located at Ang Mo Kio Central of S$13.8 million and sales 
proceeds of the divestment in Capitol Project of S$12.0 
million. The amount was eventually offset by progressive 
payments of S$1.7 million for assets under investment 
properties. Net cash deployed in financing activities was 
recorded as S$5.2 million for FY2013. This was mainly due 
to repayment of bank loan amounting to S$9.2 million, 
offset by additional bank loan of S$3.0 million secured for 
Braddell Project and proceeds from conversion of warrants 
amounting to S$0.9 million.

As a result of the above, cash and cash equivalents have 
been increased to S$56.3 million as of 31 December 2013 
as compared to S$42.4 million in FY2012.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
REPORT

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

15TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is committed to ensuring that the highest standards of corporate governance are 
practised throughout Top Global Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), as a fundamental part of its 
responsibilities to protect and enhance shareholder value and the financial performance of the Group.

The Monetary Authority of Singapore (“MAS”) issued the revised Code of Corporate Governance on 2 May 2012 (“2012 
Code”) and is effective for annual reports relating to financial years commencing from 1 November 2012. The Code is not 
mandatory, but listed Companies are required under the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading 
Limited (“SGX-ST”) (the “Listing Manual”) to disclose their corporate governance practices and give explanations for 
deviations from the 2012 Code in their Annual Reports.

This report describes the Group’s corporate governance practices and structures that were in place during the financial year 
ended 31 December 2013, with specific reference to the principles and guidelines of the 2012 Code, and where applicable, 
the Listing Manual, the Singapore Companies Act, Chapter 50 and the Audit Committee Guidance Committee (“ACGC”) 
Guidebook which was issued on 30 October 2008, focusing on areas such as internal control, risk management, financial 
reporting, internal and external audits.

The Board is pleased to report compliance of the Company with the 2012 Code and the Listing Manual where applicable 
except where otherwise stated.

The 2012 Code

The 2012 Code is divided into four main sections, namely:
(A) Board Matters
(B) Remuneration Matters
(C) Accountability and Audit
(D) Shareholders Rights and Responsibilities

(A) BOARD MATTERS

The Board of Directors in office at the date of this report comprises:
Mdm Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja
Mr Hano Maeloa
Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo
Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel
Dr Lam Lee G
Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

Key information on the Directors can be found on page 4 to 6 under the section on Board of Directors of this Annual Report.
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Principle 1: The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

Every company should be headed by an effective Board to lead and control the company. The Board is collectively 
responsible for the long-term success of the company. The Board works with Management to achieve this objective 
and Management remains accountable to the Board.

The Board’s Conduct of Affairs

The principal role of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) is to review and decide strategic plans, key 
operational and financial issues, evaluate performance of the Group and supervise executive Management to achieve 
optimal shareholders’ value.

Matters Requiring Board Approval

•	 corporate	policies,	strategies	and	objectives	of	the	Company;

•	 annual	budgets;

•	 quarterly,	half	yearly	and	full	year	announcements;

•	 annual	report	and	accounts;

•	 convening	of	shareholders’	meeting;

•	 major	acquisitions,	investments	and	disposal	of	assets;

•	 corporate	strategic	direction,	strategies	and	action	plan;

•	 transactions	 or	 investments	 involving	 a	 conflict	 of	 interest	 for	 a	 substantial	 shareholder	 or	 a	 Director,	 financial	
restructuring	and	share	issuance,	dividends	and	other	returns	to	shareholders;	and

•	 issuance	of	policies	and	key	business	initiatives.

There has been no change to the Group’s internal guidelines which had been approved by the Board for material 
transactions and investments by the Company and Group, with limits for different levels of approving authorities, categories 
of expenditures and investments.

The Board has delegated certain functions to various Board Committees, namely the Nominating Committee (“NC”), 
Remuneration Committee (“RC”) and Audit Committee (“AC”). Each of the various Board Committees has its own written 
terms of reference and whose actions are reported to and monitored by the Board. The Board accepts that while these 
various Board Committees have the authority to examine particular issues and will report back to the Board with their 
decisions and/or recommendations, the ultimate responsibility on all matters lies with the Board.

The Board meets on a quarterly basis and as warranted by particular circumstances. 5 Board meetings were held in the 
financial year ended 31 December 2013 (“FY2013”), of which four were the regular quarterly meetings and 1 additional 
meeting was convened to discuss other important and strategic matters. Telephonic attendance and conference via audio-
visual communication at Board and Board Committees meetings are allowed under the Company’s Articles of Association 
(“Articles”). The attendance of the Directors at meetings of the Board and Board Committees, and the frequency of such 
meetings, is disclosed on page 22.

Newly appointed Directors would be briefed by the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of the Company on the Group’s 
business and corporate governance policies and practices. Familiarisation sessions include visits to project sites. Directors 
are kept informed of changes to regulatory requirements from time to time by the Company Secretary. Board members are 
encouraged to keep themselves updated especially on their relevant professional, statutory, and regulatory requirements 
and guidelines to enhance their discharge of their duties and responsibilities as Directors.
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To keep pace with new laws, regulations, changing commercial risks and financial reporting standards, all directors attend 
specifically tailored training conducted by professionals at least annually. Directors are also encouraged to attend, at the 
Group’s expense, relevant and useful seminars for their continuing education and skills improvement courses that are 
conducted by external organisations. The Company Secretary will bring to Directors’ attention, information on seminars 
that may be of relevance or use to them.

Principle 2: Board Composition and Guidance

There should be a strong and independent element on the Board, which is able to exercise objective judgement 
on corporate affairs independently, in particular, from Management and 10% shareholders1. No individual or small 
group of individuals should be allowed to dominate the Board’s decision making.

Board Composition and Independent Directors

The Board of Directors currently comprises six members, three of whom are Executive Directors, two are Independent 
Non-Executive Directors and one is Non-Executive Director.

The Company’s Executive Directors are Mdm Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja who is the Executive Chairman, Mr Hano 
Maeloa who is the CEO and Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo who is the Chief Operating Officer (“COO“). The Independent 
Non-Executive Directors are Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel and Dr Lam Lee G, and the Non-Executive Director is Ms Mimi 
Yuliana Maeloa. The Board has the requisite mix of expertise and experience, and collectively possesses the necessary 
core competencies for effective functioning and informed decision-making. Each Director has been appointed based on 
the strength of his calibre, experience and stature and is expected to bring a valuable range of experience and expertise 
to contribute to the development of the Group’s strategies and the performance of its business.

There is no limit to the number of Directors that may be appointed under the Company’s Articles. Given the scope and 
size of the operations of the Company and the Group, the Board is of the view that the present composition and size is 
adequate and it facilitates effective decision making.

The independence of each Independent Non-Executive Director is reviewed annually by the NC. The NC adopts the 2012 
Code’s definition of what constitutes an Independent Director in its review. The NC has reviewed the status of the two 
Independent Non-Executive Directors and is of the view that they are independent.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors have also confirmed that they do not have any relationship with the Company 
or its related corporations, its 10% shareholders or its officers that could interfere, or be reasonably perceived to interfere, 
with the exercise of the Directors’ independent business judgment with a view to the best interests of the Company and 
its shareholders.

The Board is able to exercise objective judgment independently from the Management and no individual or small group 
of individuals dominate the decisions of the Board.

As and when required, the Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Director will hold a meeting without 
the presence of Management and Executive Directors, in order to facilitate a more effective check on the Management 
and/or the Executive Directors.

1 The term 10% shareholder shall refer to a person who has an interest or interests in one or more voting shares in the company and 
the total votes attached to that share, or those shares, is not less than 10% of the total votes attached to all the voting shares in the 
company. “Voting shares” exclude treasury shares.
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To-date, none of the Independent Non-Executive Directors of the Company have been appointed as Director of the 
Company’s principal subsidiaries. The Board and the Management are of the view that the current Board structures in the 
principal subsidiaries are already well organized and constituted. The Board and the Management will, from time to time, 
renew the Board structures of the principal subsidiaries and will make an appropriate corporate decision to consider the 
appointment of the Independent Non-Executive Director into the principal subsidiaries.

None of the Directors have served the Company for a period exceeding nine years. As and when Directors serve beyond 
nine years, the NC performs a particularly rigorous review to assess the independence of the relevant Directors.

Principle 3: Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There should be a clear division of responsibilities between the leadership of the Board and the executives 
responsible for managing the company’s business. No one individual should represent a considerable concentration 
of power.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Mdm Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja continues to serve as Executive Chairman of the Board and Mr Hano Maeloa, son 
of Mdm Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja, assumes the role of CEO. There is a clear division of responsibilities between 
the Executive Chairman and the CEO to ensure that there is an appropriate balance of power, increased accountability 
and sufficient capacity of the Board for independent decision-making.

The Executive Chairman is responsible for the workings of the Board, ensuring the integrity and effectiveness of its 
governance process. The Executive Chairman ensures that Board meetings are held as and when necessary and set the 
meeting agenda in consultation with Mr Hano Maeloa, the CEO, and Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo, the COO and Executive 
Director. The Executive Chairman, with the assistance of the CEO, the COO and Company Secretary, ensures Board 
members are provided with adequate and timely information. The Executive Chairman assists to ensure procedures are 
introduced to comply with the Company’s guidelines on corporate governance. The CEO is responsible for the business 
and operational decisions of the Group.

The Board is of the view that there is a sufficiently strong independent element on the Board which enables the exercise 
of judgement with regards to the corporate affairs of the Group.

Lead Independent Director

In view of the Executive Chairman and the CEO are related by close family ties and part of the executive management 
team, Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel has been appointed as our Lead Independent Director of the Company pursuant to the 
recommendation in Guideline 3.3 of the 2012 Code. Where a situation arises that may involve conflict of interests between 
the roles of the Executive Chairman and the CEO, it is the Lead Independent Director’s responsibility, together with the 
other Independent Non-Executive Director, to ensure that shareholders’ rights are protected. Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel, 
being the Lead Independent Director of the Company, is available to shareholders where they have concerns, which contact 
through the normal channels of the Executive Chairman and the CEO has failed to resolve or for which such contact is 
inappropriate.

Hence, the Board believes that notwithstanding the close family ties between the Executive Chairman and the CEO, the 
current composition of the Board is able to make objective and prudent judgement on the Group’s corporate affairs. The 
Board is of the view that there are sufficient safeguards and checks to ensure that the process of decision making by the 
Board is independent and based on collective decisions without any individual exercising any considerable concentration 
of power or influence.
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Principle 4: Board Membership

There should be a formal and transparent process for the appointment and re-appointment of directors to the Board.

Nominating Committee (“NC”)

The NC consists of two Independent Non-Executive Directors and one Non-Executive Director. The members of the NC 
are as follows:

Dr Lam Lee G (Chairman)
Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel
Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

The functions of the NC are reflected in the existing Terms of Reference approved by the Board and they include:

•	 making	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	all	Board	Appointments;

•	 developing	a	process	for	evaluation	of	the	performance	of	the	Board,	its	Board	Committees	and	Directors;

•	 making	 recommendations	 to	 the	Board	 on	 the	 appointment	 or	 re-nomination	 of	Directors	 of	 the	Board,	 having	
regard	to	the	respective	Director’s	contributions	and	performance;

•	 determining	annually	whether	or	not	a	Director	is	independent;

•	 in	situations	where	a	Director	has	multiple	board	representations,	 to	review	whether	the	Director	 is	able	to	carry	
out	his/her	duties	as	Director	adequately;	and

•	 reviewing	and	making	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	the	training	and	professional	development	programmes	
for the Board.

The NC continued to use the existing internal guidelines adopted in the previous year to evaluate the performance of 
the Board, which includes an annual board assessment checklist that was being completed by all members of the Board 
individually and also a group checklist prepared jointly by members of the NC.

During the financial year under the review, the NC together with the Management had arranged for the Board members 
to attend various training programmes and seminars to ensure that the Board members were constantly updated and 
equipped with the necessary and relevant skills, knowledge and competencies to cope with the increasingly complex 
operation of the companies in order to discharge their duties effectively.

In its search and selection process for new Directors, the NC taps on the resources of Directors’ personal contacts and 
recommendations of potential candidates and appraises the nominees to ensure that the candidates possess relevant 
experience and calibre to contribute to the Group and its businesses, having regard to the attributes of the existing Board 
and the requirements of the Group. New Directors are appointed by way of a Board resolution, upon their nomination from 
the NC. In accordance with the Company’s Articles, these new Directors who are appointed by the Board are subject to 
re-election by shareholders at the first opportunity after their appointment. The Company’s Articles also provides that at 
least one-third of the remaining Directors be subject to re-election by rotation at each Annual General Meeting (“AGM”). 
For the avoidance of doubt, each director shall retire at least once every three (3) years. This will enable all shareholders 
to exercise their rights in selecting all Board members.

The 2012 Code states that as a principle of good corporate governance, all Directors should be required to submit 
themselves for re-nomination and re-election at regular intervals.
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The NC has recommended the following Directors to retire pursuant to Article 106 of the Company’s Articles, being eligible 
and having consented, be nominated for re-appointment at the forthcoming AGM:

Name of Director Appointment Date Appointed

Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo Executive Director 8 November 2010

Dr Lam Lee G Independent Non-Executive Director 26 April 2010

There is no relationship (including immediate family relationships) between Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo and Dr Lam Lee 
G and with the other Directors, the Company or its 10% shareholders.

All Directors are required to declare their board representations as at the date of this Annual Report. The date of initial 
appointment and last re-election of each director to the Board together with his/her directorships in other listed companies, 
both current and those held over in the preceding three years, are set out below:

Name of Director

Date of first
appointment
to the Board

Date of
last re-election

as Director
Current directorships
in listed companies

Past directorships
in listed companies

(preceding three years)

Mdm Oei Siu Hoa @ 
 Sukmawati Widjaja

12 March 2010 22 March 2012 N.A. N.A.

Mr Hano Maeloa 27 July 2007 22 March 2012 Albedo Limited N.A.

Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments
Limited

Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo 8 November 2010 28 March 2011 N.A. N.A.

Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa 26 April 2010 26 April 2013 N.A. N.A.

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan, Daniel 26 April 2010 26 April 2013 Albedo Limited N.A.

Dr Lam Lee G 26 April 2010 28 March 2011 Asia-Pacific Strategic Investments 
Limited

CDC Software Corporation

Csi Properties Limited Mingyuan Medicare Development 
Company Limited

Far East Holdings International 
Limited

TMC Life Sciences Berhad

Glorious Sun Enterprise Limited Wai Chun Mining Industry Group 
Co. Ltd.

Hutchison Harbour Ring Limited China Communication Telecom 
Services Company Limited

Imagi International Holdings Limited

Mei Ah Entertainment Group Limited

Next-Generation Satellite 
Communications Limited

Rowsley Ltd.

Sunway Kingsway Capital Holdings 
Limited

Sunway International Limited

Vongroup Limited

Coalbank Limited

Vietnam Equity Holding

Vietnam Property Holding

There is no alternate director on Board.
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Sufficient Time and Attention by Directors

The Group has guidelines in place to address the competing time commitments faced by Directors serving on multiple 
boards and the Board has determined a general guideline that the maximum number of listed company board 
representations which any director may hold is five. Any exceptions to this guideline should be specifically approved by 
the NC, giving regard to whether the particular director would still be able to devote sufficient time and attention to the 
affairs of the Group, taking into consideration the director’s number of listed company board representations and his or 
her other principal commitments. The NC is satisfied that sufficient time and attention was given by the Directors to the 
affairs of the Group for FY2013.

Succession Planning for Directors, in particulars, the Chairman and for the CEO

Succession planning is an important part of the governance process. The NC will review the board succession plans for 
Directors, in particulars, the Chairman and for the CEO and makes recommendations to the Board with regards to any 
adjustments that are deemed necessary.

Principle 5: Board Performance

There should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its board committees and 
the contribution by each director to the effectiveness of the Board.

Assessing Board Performance

The 2012 Code states that there should be a formal assessment of the effectiveness of the Board as a whole and its Board 
Committees and the contributions by each Director to the effectiveness of the Board. The 2012 Code further recommends 
that the NC proposes effective criteria to evaluate how the Board should be evaluated. The NC continued with the existing 
internal guidelines adopted in the previous year as described above to evaluate the performance of the Board.

The NC is satisfied that the current size and composition of the Board provides it with adequate ability to meet the existing 
scope of needs and the nature of operations of the Company. From time to time, the NC will review the appropriateness 
of the current Board size, taking into consideration the changes in the nature and scope of operations as well as the 
regulatory environment.

Principle 6: Access to Information

In order to fulfil their responsibilities, directors should be provided with complete, adequate and timely information 
prior to board meetings and on an on-going basis so as to enable them to make informed decisions to discharge 
their duties and responsibilities.

Board Access to Information

The Board has established various Board Committees to assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities. These Board 
Committees are the AC, the NC and the RC, and each Board Committee has its own approved written terms of reference.



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
REPORT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

22 TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

In FY2013, the Board had five scheduled meetings. The Company’s Articles also allows a Board meeting to be conducted 
by way of tele-conference. The attendance of the Directors at Board and Board committees’ meetings, as well as the 
frequency of such meetings held in FY2013 is as follows:

Board Meeting
Audit Committee 

Meeting
Nominating 

Committee Meeting
Remuneration 

Committee Meeting

Name of Director

No of 
Meetings 

Held

No of 
Meetings 
Attended

No of 
Meetings 

Held

No of 
Meetings 
Attended

No of 
Meetings 

Held

No of 
Meetings 
Attended

No of 
Meetings 

Held

No of 
Meetings 
Attended

Mdm Oei Siu Hoa @ 
Sukmawati Widjaja 5 3 – – – – – –

Mr Hano Maeloa 5 5 – – – – – –

Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre 
Gwo 5 5 – – – – – –

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel 5 4 5 4 1 1 1 1

Dr Lam Lee G 5 5 5 5 1 1 1 1

Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa 5 3 5 3 1 1 1 1

The Board has separate and independent access to senior Management and the Company Secretary at all times. Requests 
for information from the Board are dealt with promptly by Management. The Board is informed of all material events 
and transactions as and when they occur. The Management provides the Board with quarterly reports of the Company’s 
performance. The Management also consults with Board members regularly whenever necessary and appropriate. The 
Board is issued with board papers timely and prior to Board meetings.

The Company Secretary attends Board and Board Committees meetings. The Company Secretary administers, attends and 
prepares minutes of Board and Board Committees meetings, and assists the Chairman in ensuring that Board procedures 
are followed and reviewed so that the Board functions effectively and the Company’s Articles and the relevant rules and 
regulations applicable to the Company are complied with. The appointment and removal of the Company Secretary are 
subject to the Approval of the Board.

The Board, in fulfilling its responsibilities, can as a group or individually, when deemed fit, direct the Company to appoint 
professional advisers to render professional advice.

(B) REMUNERATION MATTERS

Principle 7: Procedures for Developing Remuneration Policies

There should be a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration and for fixing 
the remuneration packages of individual directors. No director should be involved in deciding his own remuneration.

Principle 8: Level and Mix of Remuneration

The level and structure of remuneration should be aligned with the long-term interest and risk policies of the 
company, and should be appropriate to attract, retain and motivate (a) the directors to provide good stewardship 
of the company, and (b) key management personnel to successfully manage the company. However, companies 
should avoid paying more than is necessary for this purpose.
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Principle 9: Disclosure on Remuneration

Every company should provide clear disclosure of its remuneration policies, level and mix of remuneration, and the 
procedure for setting remuneration, in the company’s Annual Report. It should provide disclosure in relation to its 
remuneration policies to enable investors to understand the link between remuneration paid to directors and key 
management personnel, and performance.

The RC is responsible for ensuring a formal and transparent procedure for developing policy on executive remuneration, 
and for fixing the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior management.

Remuneration Committee

The RC comprises three members, the majority of whom are Independent and Non-Executive Directors. The members of 
the RC are as follows:

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel (Chairman)
Dr Lam Lee G
Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

Remuneration Matters

The duties and responsibilities of the RC are as follows:

•	 review	and	recommend	an	appropriate	 remuneration	 framework/package	for	 the	directors	and	key	executives	or	
senior management, and service contract terms to the Directors to ensure that it can attract, retain and motivate 
individuals	of	the	right	calibre	to	manage	the	business	of	the	Group	and	Company;

•	 make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	specific	remuneration	packages	for	each	Executive	Director	and	the	CEO	
of	the	Company	and	its	subsidiaries;

•	 review	all	aspects	of	remuneration,	including	but	not	limited	to	Directors’	fees,	salaries,	allowances,	bonuses,	options	
and	benefits-in-kind;

•	 review	periodically	 the	 appropriateness	 and	 relevance	of	 certain	 aspects	 of	 remuneration	policies	 and	practices	
including incentive payments where applicable, variable bonuses, the options to be issued under the share option 
scheme,	the	awards	to	be	granted	under	the	share	plan	and	other	benefits-in-kind;	and

•	 overseeing	the	administration	of	the	Employees’	Share	Option	Scheme	and	Performance	Share	Plan.

No Director or member of the RC shall be involved in deciding his own remuneration, except for providing information 
and documents specifically requested by the RC to assist it in its deliberations. The RC may obtain expert professional 
advice on remuneration mattes, if required.

The Chairman of the RC reviews, for recommendation to the Board, the specific remuneration package for the Executive 
Directors and key executives or senior management. There are appropriate and meaningful measures in place for the 
purpose of assessing the performance of Executive Directors and key executives or senior management. In determining 
remuneration packages of Executive Directors and key executives or senior management, the RC will ensure that Directors 
and key executives are adequately but not excessively rewarded. The RC will consider, in consultation with the Board, 
amongst other things, their responsibilities, skills, expertise and contributions to the Company’s performance and whether 
the remuneration packages are competitive and sufficient to ensure that the Company is able to attract and retain the best 
available executive talent. Each member of the RC does not participate in any decision concerning his own remuneration.
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In reviewing and recommending the remuneration of Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Director, 
the RC will consider, in consultation with the Board, the level of contribution, taking into account factors such as effort 
and time spent, and responsibilities of the Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Director. The RC will 
ensure that the Independent Non-Executive Directors and Non-Executive Director are not over compensated to the extent 
that their independence may be compromised.

Level and Mix of Remuneration

The Company adopted the objectives as recommended by the 2012 Code to determine the framework and levels of 
remuneration for Directors and key management personnel so as to ensure that it is competitive and sufficient to attract, 
retain and motivate Directors and senior management of the required experience and expertise to run the Group 
successfully, without being excessive.

In addition to the above, the Company ensures that performance-related remuneration system was implemented to ensure 
that the interests of the shareholders are aligned with the Board and Management and in order to promote the long-term 
success of the Company.

The Company has a staff remuneration policy which comprises a fixed component and a variable component. The fixed 
and variable components are in the form of a base salary and variable bonus that is linked to the performance of the 
Company and individual.

The Company had taken appropriate and meaningful measures in assessing the Executive Directors and key management 
personnel performance.

The RC had reviewed the Executive Directors and key management personnel who are eligible for benefits under the 
long-term incentive schemes. The long-term incentives schemes of the Company include the Top Global Share Option 
Scheme 2011 and Top Global Performance Share Plan.

Each Executive Director has a service agreement with the Company.

The Independent Non-Executive Directors have not entered into service agreements with the Company.

The Company does not use contractual provisions to allow the Company to reclaim incentive components of remuneration 
from Executive Directors and key management personnel in exceptional circumstances of misstatement of financial results, 
or of misconduct resulting in financial loss to the Company. The Executive Directors owe a fiduciary duty to the Company. 
The Company should be able to avail itself to remedies against the Executive Directors in the event of such breach of 
fiduciary duties.
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Directors’ Remuneration

Name of Director
Salary 

%
Bonus 

%
Fees 

%

Fringe 
Benefits 

%
Allowances 

%
Total 

%

$2,000,000 to $2,250,000

Mdm Oei Siu Hoa @ 
Sukmawati Widjaja 49 48 2 1 – 100

$1,750,000 to $2,000,000

Mr Hano Maeloa 45 49 2 4 – 100

$500,000 to $750,000

Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo 52 39 6 – 3 100

Below $250,000

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel – – 100 – – 100

Dr Lam Lee G – – 100 – – 100

Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa – – 100 – – 100

The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors receive directors’ fees, in accordance with their level of contributions, 
taking into account factors such as responsibilities, effort and time spent for serving on the Board and Board Committees. 
The directors’ fees are recommended by the Board for approval at the AGM.

Remuneration of Top 5 Key Management Personnel

Name of Employee
Salary 

%
Bonus 

%
Fees 

%

Fringe 
Benefits 

%
Allowances 

%
Total 

%

Below $250,000

Ting Siew Yong 1 72 24 – 1 3 100

Ong Zhi Hao, Gary 2 72 23 – – 5 100

Yei Maung 64 32 – – 4 100

Ho Ching Yee, Donny 84 10 – – 6 100

Ling Ngiik Kee, Rose 64 32 – – 4 100

1 Ms Ting Siew Yong resigned as a Financial Controller of the Company with effect from 11 December 2013.

2 Mr Ong Zhi Hao, Gary resigned as an Assistant Finance Manager of the Company with effect from 23 August 2013.

The Company has no employees who are immediate family members of a Director or CEO and whose remuneration 
exceeded $50,000 during the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

There were no share options/awards granted during the financial year ended 31 December 2013.
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The Company has decided not to fully disclose the remuneration paid to each Director and the aggregate remuneration 
paid to the top five key management personnel having regard to the highly competitive human resource environment 
and the confidential nature of staff remuneration matters, so as to ensure the Company’s competitive advantage in the 
retention of its key management team.

Share Option Scheme Committee and Performance Share Plan Committee

The Company has a Share Option Scheme and a Performance Share Plan in place. The Share Option Scheme Committee 
is responsible for the administration of the “Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011” (the “Scheme”), in accordance with 
the rules of the Scheme. The Performance Share Plan Committee is responsible for the administration of the “Top Global 
Performance Share Plan” (the “PSP”) in accordance with the rules of the PSP. Both the Scheme Committee and the PSP 
Committee are made up of the members of the RC, Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel, Dr Lam Lee G and Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa.

Please refer to the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report for further details of the Scheme and the PSP.

(C) ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Principle 10: Accountability

The Board should present a balanced and understandable assessment of the company’s performance, position and 
prospects.

Principle 11: Risk Management and Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the governance of risk. The Board should ensure that Management maintains a sound 
system of risk management and internal controls to safeguard shareholders’ interests and the company’s assets, 
and should determine the nature and extent of the significant risks which the Board is willing to take in achieving 
its strategic objectives.

Principle 12: Audit Committee

The Board should establish an Audit Committee (“AC”) with written terms of reference which clearly set out its 
authority and duties2.

Accountability

The Board understands its accountability to shareholders on the Group’s position, performance and progress. The Board 
will update shareholders on the operations and financial position of the Company through quarterly and full year results 
announcements as well as timely announcements of other matters as prescribed by the relevant rules and regulations 
to provide the shareholders with a balanced and understandable analysis and explanation of the Group’s financial 
performance, position and prospects.

The Management provides the Board on a quarterly basis, financial reports and other information on the Group’s 
performance, financial position and prospects for their effective monitoring and decision-making.

2 The Board may wish to refer to the sample terms of reference contained in the Guidebook for Audit Committees in Singapore issued 
by the Audit Committee Guidance Committee which was established on 15 January 2008 by the Monetary Authority of Singapore, the 
Accounting and Corporate Regulatory Authority and Singapore Exchange Limited to develop practical guidance for audit committees 
of listed companies.
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Risk Management and Processes

The Company regularly reviews and improves its business and operational activities to identify areas of significant business 
risks as well as respond appropriately to controls and mitigate these risks. The Company reviews all significant control 
policies and procedures and highlights all significant matters to the AC and the Board. Currently, the Company does not 
have a Risk Management Committee.

Internal Controls

The Board is responsible for the overall internal control framework, but acknowledges that no cost-effective internal control 
system will preclude all errors and irregularities. The system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives and can provide only reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement 
or loss. The internal controls in place will address the financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks 
and the objectives of these controls are to provide reasonable assurance that there are no material financial misstatements 
or material losses and assets are safeguarded.

Relying on the reports from the internal and external auditors, the AC carried out assessment of the effectiveness of key 
internal controls during the year. Any material non-compliance or weaknesses in internal controls or recommendations 
from the internal and external auditors to further improve the internal controls were reported to the AC. The AC will also 
follow up on the actions taken by the Management on the recommendations made by the internal and external auditors.

The Board has received assurances from the CEO and COO:

•	 that	 the	 financial	 records	have	been	properly	maintained	and	 the	 financial	 statements	 are	presented	 fairly	 in	 all	
material respects the Group’s operations and finances. To the best of their knowledge, they are not aware of 
any events that have arisen which would have a material effect on the financial results of the Company and its 
subsidiaries, except as disclosed in the financial results, and nothing has come to their attention which may render 
the	financial	results	false	or	misleading;	and

•	 regarding	the	effectiveness	of	the	Group’s	risk	management	systems	and	internal	control	systems.

Based on the various management controls in place, the reports from the internal and external auditors, reviews conducted 
by the Management, the Board with the concurrence of the AC, is of the opinion that the internal controls addressing 
financial, operational, compliance and information technology risks and risk management systems maintained by the Group 
are adequate as at 31 December 2013.

The Board also notes that all internal control systems and risk managements systems contain inherent limitations and no 
system of internal controls or risk management system could provide absolute assurance against the occurrence of material 
errors, poor judgment in decision making, human error, losses, fraud or other irregularities.

As the Group continues to grow the business, the Board will continue to review and take appropriate steps to strengthen 
the Group’s overall system of internal controls and risk management.

Audit Committee

The AC of the Company is made up of three Board members, the majority of whom are Independent Non-Executive 
Directors. The members of the AC are as follows:

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel (Chairman)
Dr Lam Lee G
Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa
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The Board is of the view that the members of the AC are appropriately qualified in that they have sufficient accounting or 
related financial management expertise and experience to discharge its responsibilities properly.

The AC is regulated by its terms of reference and its key functions include:

•	 review	the	audit	plans	of	the	Company’s	external	auditors,	 including	the	results	of	the	auditors’	review	and	audit	
report, the Management letter and Management’s response and evaluation of the Company’s system of internal 
controls;

•	 review	 the	quarterly	 and	 annual	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	Group	 focusing	 in	 particular,	 on	 significant	 financial	
reporting issues and judgements, any significant adjustments, changes in accounting policies and practices, major 
risk areas, significant adjustments resulting from the audit, the going concern statement, compliance with accounting 
standards	stock	exchange	and	statutory/regulatory	requirements	before	submission	to	the	Board	for	approval;

•	 review	any	formal	announcements	relating	to	the	Company’s	financial	performance;

•	 discuss	problems	and	concerns,	if	any,	arising	from	the	audits,	in	consultation	with	the	external	auditors	and	internal	
auditors where necessary and to meet the external auditors and internal auditors without the presence of the 
Management,	at	least	annually;

•	 review	the	assistance	and	cooperation	given	by	the	Management	to	the	external	auditors;

•	 review	 annually	 the	 scope	 and	 results	 of	 the	 audit	 and	 its	 cost	 effectiveness	 as	 well	 as	 the	 independence	 and	
objectivity	of	the	external	auditors;

•	 review	the	internal	audit	programme	and	ensure	coordination	between	external	auditors	and	internal	auditors	and	
the	Management;

•	 review	the	adequacy	of	the	Company’s	internal	controls	as	set	out	in	Guideline	13.1	of	the	2012	Code;

•	 review	the	scope	and	results	of	the	internal	audit	procedures	including	the	effectiveness	of	the	internal	audit	functions	
and	ensure	that	the	said	functions	are	adequately	resourced;

•	 review	 and	 discuss	with	 the	 external	 auditors,	 any	 suspected	 fraud	 or	 irregularity,	 or	 suspected	 infringement	 of	
any relevant laws, rules or regulations, which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Company’s operating 
results	or	financial	position	and	the	Management’s	response;

•	 review	arrangements	by	which	staff	of	the	Company	may,	in	confidence,	raise	concerns	about	possible	improprieties	
in matters of financial reporting or other matters and ensure that arrangements are in place for the independent 
investigations	of	such	matters	and	for	appropriate	follow	up	actions;

•	 review	any	potential	conflict	of	interest;

•	 report	to	the	Board	its	findings	from	time	to	time	on	matters	arising	and	requiring	the	attention	of	the	Committee;

•	 review	interested	person	transactions,	falling	within	the	scope	of	Chapter	9	of	the	Listing	Manual	of	the	Singapore	
Exchange	Securities	Trading	Limited	(the	“SGX-ST”);

•	 recommend	to	the	Board	the	appointment,	re-appointment	and	removal	of	the	external	auditors	and	approve	the	
remuneration	and	terms	of	engagement	of	the	external	auditors;

•	 undertake	such	other	reviews	and	projects	as	may	be	requested	by	the	Board	and	report	to	the	Board	its	findings	
from	time	to	time	on	matters	arising	and	requiring	the	attention	of	the	AC;	and

•	 undertake	generally	 such	other	 functions	and	duties	as	may	be	 required	by	 statute	or	 the	Listing	Manual	of	 the	
SGX-ST, and by such amendments made thereto from time to time.

Apart from the above functions, the AC shall commission and review the findings of internal investigations into matters 
where there is any suspected fraud or irregularity, or failure of internal controls or infringement of any Singapore laws, rules 
or regulations which has or is likely to have a material impact on the Group’s operating results and/or financial position. 
Each member of the AC shall abstain from voting on any resolutions in respect of matters in which he is interested.
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The AC has full access to and cooperation of the Management, external auditors and internal auditors. It also has the 
discretion to invite any Director and executive officer to attend its meetings. The AC has adequate resources to enable it 
to discharge its responsibilities properly.

The external auditors provides regular updates and periodic briefings to the AC on changes or amendments to accounting 
standards to enable the members of the AC to keep abreast of such changes and their corresponding impact on the 
financial statements, if any.

The Company’s external auditors, Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation had carried out their duties in the course of 
their statutory audit, and considered the internal controls that are relevant to the Company’s preparation of financial 
statements. Any internal control weaknesses noted during their audit, including the external auditors’ recommendations 
to address such non-compliance and weakness, would be reported to the AC.

The Management would then follow-up on the external auditors’ recommendations as part of Management’s role in the 
review of the Company’s internal control systems. The Management together with the Board has reviewed all the audit 
reports and findings from the external auditors. In addition, the AC has reviewed the Company’s system of internal controls, 
including operational and compliance records, risk management policies and systems established by Management during 
the year and is satisfied that the overall system of controls is adequate.

During the financial year under review, the AC has reviewed and approved the internal and external audit plans and financial 
results. The AC also reviewed the independence of the external auditors including the volume of all non-audit services 
provided to the Group, and is satisfied that the nature and extend of such services will not prejudice the independence 
and objectivity of the external auditors.

The AC has met with the auditors without the presence of management.

The AC constantly bears in mind the need to maintain a balance between the independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors and the work carried out by the external auditors based on value for-money consideration. During the year under 
review, the aggregate amount of fees paid to the external auditors for the audit and non-audit services amounted to 
S$74,000 and S$22,000 respectively.

The AC has recommended and the Board has approved the nomination for re-appointment of Nexia TS Public Accounting 
Corporation as external auditors of the Company at the forthcoming AGM.

The Group has appointed different auditors for its overseas subsidiaries. The Board and the AC have reviewed the 
appointment of different auditors for its subsidiaries and were satisfied that the appointment of different auditors would 
not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the Group.

The Company is in compliance with Rules 712 and 716 of the Listing Manual in relation to the external auditors.

Interested Person Transactions (“IPT”)

The Company has established internal control policy to ensure that transactions with interested persons are properly 
reviewed, approved and conducted at arms’ length basis. All IPT are recorded in an IPT register and subject to quarterly 
review by the AC.
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Details of IPT for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 are as follow:

Name of Interested Person

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions during the 

financial year under review 
(excluding transactions less than 

S$100,000) and transactions 
conducted under shareholders’ 
mandate pursuant to Rule 920

Aggregate value of all interested 
person transactions conducted 
under shareholders’ mandate 

pursuant to Rule 920 
(excluding transactions 
less than S$100,000)

Djafar Widjaja and Jehnny Susanty (1)

S$4,473,980 
Unit # 01-03 at R Maison and 
Block 30, #05-15 at E Maison

N.A. as no IPT mandate 
has been obtained.

(1) Purchase of units by Djafar Widjaja and Jehnny Susanty, associates of Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja, a Director and 
Controlling Shareholder of the Company.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Company has in place whistle-blowing policies by which staff may raise concerns about fraudulent activities, 
malpractices or improprieties within the Group, without fear of reprisal. To ensure independent investigation of such 
matters and for appropriate follow up action, all whistle-blowing reports can be sent to either the Human Resource or the 
Chairman of the AC. There have been no reported incidents pertaining to whistle-blowing for FY2013.

None of the members nor the Chairman of the AC are former partners or directors of the Group’s auditing firm.

Principle 13: Internal Audit

The company should establish an effective internal audit function that is adequately resourced and independent 
of the activities it audits.

Internal Audit

The Board recognises the importance of maintaining a system of internal controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments 
and the Company’s assets. The Company has outsourced its internal audit functions of the Group to a professional firm 
to perform the review and test of controls of its processes.

The appointed internal auditor reports directly to the AC and responsible for assessing the reliability, adequacy and 
effectiveness of the system of internal controls are in place to protect the fund and assets of the Group to ensure control 
procedures are complied with, assessing the operations of the business processes under review are conducted efficiently 
and effectively and identifying and recommending improvement to internal control procedures, where required.

The internal auditor plans its internal audit schedules in consultation with, but independent of, the Management. The 
internal audit plan is submitted to the AC for approval prior to the commencement of the internal audit. The AC will review 
the activities of the internal auditor, including overseeing and monitoring of the implementation of improvements required 
on internal control weaknesses identified.

The AC is of the opinion that the appointed internal audit firm, BDO LLP, is adequately resourced with qualified personnel 
to discharge its responsibilities. The AC has reviewed the internal audit reports and based on the controls in place and is 
satisfied that the internal audit functions have been adequately carried out.
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(D) SHAREHOLDERS RIGHTS AND RESPONSIBILITIES

Principle 14

Companies should treat all shareholders fairly and equitably, and should recognise, protect and facilitate the 
exercise of shareholders’ rights, and continually review and update such governance arrangements.

Shareholder Rights

The Group is committed to providing shareholders with adequate, timely and sufficient information pertaining to changes 
in the Group’s business which could have a material impact on the share price or value.

The Group strongly encourages shareholder participation during the AGM which is held in a central location in Singapore. 
Shareholders are able to proactively engage the Board and management on the Group’s business activities, financial 
performance and other business related matters.

Registered shareholders including corporations, who are unable to attend the AGM are provided the option to appoint a 
nominee or custodial services to appoint up to two proxies. This allows shareholders who hold shares through corporations 
to attend and participate in the AGM as proxies.

Principle 15: Communication with Shareholders

Companies should actively engage their shareholders and put in place an investor relations policy to promote 
regular, effective and fair communication with shareholders.

Communication with Shareholders

In line with the Company’s obligations for continuing disclosure, the Board’s policy is for shareholders to be informed of 
all major developments and transactions that impact the Group.

The Company does not practice selective disclosure. Information is disseminated to shareholders on a transparent and 
timely basis. All price-sensitive information and financial results announcements are publicly released via SGXNET.

The Group’s Annual Report, together with the notice of AGM, is dispatched to all shareholders at least 14 days before the 
meeting. The Notice of AGM is also published in the newspapers and announced via SGXNET.

Principle 16: Conduct of shareholder meetings

Companies should encourage greater shareholder participation at general meetings of shareholders, and allow 
shareholders the opportunity to communicate their views on various matters affecting the company.

Shareholders are encouraged to attend the AGM as this is the principal forum for any dialogue they may have with the 
Directors and Management of the Company.
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Any member of the Company who is unable to attend the AGM can appoint up to two proxies to attend and vote on his/
her behalf.

At the Company’s AGMs, shareholders are given the opportunity to voice their views and ask Directors or Management 
questions regarding the Company. The Chairman of the AC, RC, NC and independent auditors of the Group will normally 
be present at AGMs and other general meetings of shareholders to assist the Board in addressing shareholders’ questions.

Minutes of the general meetings which include relevant comments and queries from shareholders relating to the agenda 
of the general meetings together with responses from the Board and Management are prepared and made available to 
the shareholders upon request.

The Company will not be putting all resolutions to vote by poll at the upcoming AGM as it may not be efficient or cost 
effective. The Company will adopt the vote by poll from August 2015 in compliance with the Listing Manual.

Material Contracts

On 10 December 2013, the Company entered into the share purchase agreement with Asia Capital Holding Limited, PT. 
Surya Pembangunan Utama, PT. Niaganusa Indomakmur, Alera Financial Corp. and Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati 
Widjaja in relation to the proposed acquisition of 3,412,821,351 issued ordinary shares in the capital of PT Suryamas 
Dutamakmur Tbk, representing approximately 71.52% of the issued share capital of PT Suryamas Dutamakmur Tbk, on the 
terms and subject to the conditions of the share purchase agreement for the purchase consideration of S$152,951,535, to be 
satisfied by the allotment and issue of 13,000,000,000 new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company and 5,000,000,000 
options to be allotted and issued to Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja.

Dealing in Securities

The Company has complied with Rule 1207(19) of the Listing Manual in relation to dealings in the Company’s securities 
by Directors and officers of the Company.

The Company has adopted the internal code of best practices on dealings in the Company’s securities. Under the said code, 
the Company, Directors and all officers of the Group are not allowed to deal in the Company’s shares while in possession 
of price-sensitive information and during the period commencing two weeks before the announcement of the Company 
and Group’s quarterly results and one month before the announcement of the Company and Group’s yearly results and 
ending on the date of the announcement of the relevant results. In addition, the Directors and officers of the Company 
are advised not to deal in the Company’s securities for short term considerations and are expected to observe the insider 
trading laws at all times even when dealing in securities within the permitted trading periods.

Code of Business Conduct

The Company has a Code of Business Conduct which all employees are required to observe and comply with for the 
purpose of maintaining high standards of integrity, professionalism, and business conduct.

Treasury Shares

There are no treasury shares held by the Company at the end of the financial year ended 31 December 2013.

Dividend Policy

No dividend has been declared for FY2013 as the Group has recorded a loss for the current year. The Group has currently 
not set a dividend policy as the Group’s business is still in a development and growth stage where funds will be required 
to secure new projects to grow the Group’s business.
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The directors present their report to the members together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the 
Group and statement of financial position and statement of changes in equity of the Company for the financial year ended 
31 December 2013.

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company in office at the date of this report are as follows:

Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja
Mr Hano Maeloa
Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo
Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel
Dr Lam Lee G
Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

ARRANGEMENTS TO ENABLE DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Neither at the end of the financial year nor at any time during the financial year was the Company a party to any 
arrangement whose object was to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition 
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, except for options to take up unissued shares 
under Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 and Top Global Performance Share Plan as disclosed in paragraph under 
“Share options and warrants” of the Directors’ Report.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES OR DEBENTURES

According to the register of directors’ shareholding, none of the directors holding office at the end of the financial year 
had any interest in the shares or debentures of the Company or its related corporations, except as follows:

Shareholdings registered in 
name of director or nominee

At beginning 
of financial year

At end of 
financial year

Company
(No. of ordinary shares)
Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja 5,815,981,000 5,815,981,000
Mr Hano Maeloa 360,000,000 360,000,000
Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo 7,800,000 7,800,000

(No. of warrants)
Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja 3,661,985,936 3,661,985,936
Mr Hano Maeloa 270,000,000 270,000,000
Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo 6,100,000 6,100,000

The directors’ interests in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 21 January 2014 were the same as those as at 31 
December 2013.

By virtue of Section 7 of the Singapore Companies Act, Cap. 50, Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja is deemed to 
have an interest in the shares and debentures of all the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2013.
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DIRECTORS’ CONTRACTUAL BENEFITS

Since the end of the previous financial year, no director has received or become entitled to receive a benefit by reason of 
a contract made by the Company or a related corporation with the director or with a firm of which he is a member or with 
a company in which he has a substantial financial interest, except as disclosed in the accompanying financial statements 
and in this report.

SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS

(a) Options to take up unissued shares

During the financial year, there was no share of the Company or any corporation in the Group issued by virtue of 
the exercise of options to take up unissued shares.

(b) Unissued shares under option

Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “ESOS 2011”)

The ESOS 2011 was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 
28 March 2011 to replace the Top Global Share Option Scheme 2001 which expired on 7 June 2011 and remains in 
force at the discretion of the ESOS 2011 Committee, subject to a maximum period of ten years.

Under the rules of the ESOS 2011, all directors and employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the ESOS 2011.  
Controlling shareholders or their associates are also eligible to participate in the ESOS 2011 subject to the approval 
of independent shareholders in the form of separate resolutions for each participant. Further, independent 
shareholders’ approval is also required in the form of separate resolutions for each grant of options and the terms 
thereof, to each participant who is a controlling shareholder or his associate.

The Share Scheme Committee is charged with the administration of the ESOS 2011 in accordance with the rules 
of the ESOS 2011. The Share Scheme Committee administering the ESOS 2011 comprises the directors, Yeo Chin 
Tuan Daniel (Chairman), Dr Lam Lee G and Mimi Yuliana Maeloa.

None of the directors in the Share Scheme Committee participated in any deliberation or decision in respect of 
options granted to himself.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONT’D)

(b) Unissued shares under option (Cont’d)

Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “ESOS 2011”) (Cont’d)

The number of options to be offered to a participant shall be determined at the discretion of the Share Scheme 
Committee provided that:

(a) the total number of shares which may be offered to any participant during the entire operation of the ESOS 
2011 (including adjustments under the rules) shall not exceed 15% of the shares in respect of which the 
Company may grant options;

(b) the aggregate number of shares which may be offered to participants who are controlling shareholders and 
their associates during the entire operation of the ESOS 2011 (including adjustments under the rules) shall 
not exceed 25% of the shares in respect of which the Company may grant options; and

(c) the number of shares which may be offered to each participant who is a controlling shareholder or his 
associate during the entire operation of the ESOS 2011 shall not exceed 10% of the shares in respect of which 
the Company may grant options.

The exercise price for each share in respect of which an option is exercisable shall be determined by the Share 
Scheme Committee at its absolute discretion and fixed by the Share Scheme Committee at:

(i) a price (the “Market Price”) equal to the average of the last dealt prices for a share on the SGX-ST for the 
period of 5 consecutive market days immediately prior to the relevant offer date and rounded up to the 
nearest whole cent in the event of fractional prices; and

(ii) a price which is set at a discount to the Market Price, provided that the maximum discount shall not exceed 
20% of the Market Price.

Options granted to a participant not holding a salaried office or employment in the Group shall be exercised before 
the fifth anniversary of the relevant offer date, failing which all the unexercised options shall immediately lapse and 
become null and void.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONT’D)

(b) Unissued shares under option (Cont’d)

Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “ESOS 2011”) (Cont’d)

Details of the unissued shares under options granted pursuant to the ESOS 2011 and options outstanding as at 31 
December 2013 are as follows:

Number of options to 
subscribe for ordinary 

 shares of the Company 

Type of share options
Date of 
grant

Balance 
as at 

1.1.2013

Share 
options 

cancelled (1)

Balance 
as at 

31.12.2013

Exercise 
price 

per share
Exercise 
period

Executive - 
 Directors and 
 employees

5 April 2011 800,000,000 463,460,000 336,540,000 $0.012 5.4.2013 to 
4.4.2021

20 April 2011 80,000,000 – 80,000,000 $0.012 20.4.2013 to 
19.4.2021

880,000,000 463,460,000 416,540,000

The information on directors of the Company participating in the ESOS 2011 is as follows:

No. of unissued ordinary 
shares of the Company 

under option

Name of director

Aggregate granted 
since commencement 
of the ESOS 2011 to 

31.12.2013

Aggregate 
outstanding as at 

31.12.2013

Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja 400,000,000 168,270,000
Hano Maeloa 400,000,000 168,270,000
Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo 80,000,000 80,000,000

With the exception of Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja and Hano Maeloa who each received approximately 
6.2% of the total share options available under the ESOS 2011, none of the eligible employees and directors received 
5% or more of the total share options available under the ESOS 2011.

(1) The number of options granted under the ESOS 2011 had exceeded the limits set out in Mainboard Rule 845 of the SGX-ST Listing 
Manual, which the Company is required to comply following the transfer to the Mainboard on 24 December 2012. Accordingly, 
the Company had cancelled the excess share options during the financial year. Upon the cancellation, Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ 
Sukmawati Widjaja and Hano Maeloa each received 6.2% of the total share options available under the ESOS 2011.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONT’D)

(c) Top Global Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”)

The PSP was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 8 December 
2009 and remains in force at the discretion of the Performance Share Plan Committee (“PSP Committee”), subject 
to a maximum period of ten years. The PSP shall complement the ESOS 2011 and serve as an additional and flexible 
incentive tool.

Under the rules of the PSP, all directors and employees of the Group as well as the controlling shareholders are 
eligible to participate in the PSP.

The total number of shares over which shares to be issued under the PSP, together with the number of shares issued 
under the ESOS 2011 shall not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the Company at any time.

The PSP Committee is charged with the administration of the PSP in accordance with the rules of the PSP. The PSP 
Committee administering the PSP comprises the directors, Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel (Chairman), Dr Lam Lee G and 
Mimi Yuliana Maeloa.

None of the directors in the committee participated in any deliberation or decision in respect of shares granted 
to himself.

The number of shares to be offered to a participant shall be determined at the discretion of the PSP Committee 
provided that:

(i) the aggregate number of shares available under the PSP shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued 
shares excluding treasury shares from time to time;

(ii) the aggregate number of shares which may be offered to participants who are controlling shareholders and 
their associates shall not exceed 20% of the new shares available under the PSP;

(iii) the number of shares which may be offered to each participant who is a controlling shareholder or their 
associates shall not exceed 10% of the new shares available under the PSP; and

(iv) the aggregate number of shares available for directors and employees of the Group shall not exceed 20% 
of the new shares available under the PSP.

No shares had been granted to any participant since the commencement of the PSP.
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SHARE OPTIONS AND WARRANTS (CONT’D)

(d) Warrants issue

During the financial year, 187,229,382 (2012: 439,286,000) ordinary shares of the Company were issued for cash at 
$0.005 each by virtue of exercise of the option by the holders of the warrants to take up unissued shares. The number 
of warrants outstanding as at 31 December 2013 totalled 7,608,879,316 which expire on 29 September 2015. These 
warrants may be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion rate of $0.005 for each warrant.

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the W12062013 warrants as contained in the Deed Poll dated 14 
May 2008, the right to subscribe for new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company for the remaining 49,075,946 
W12062013 warrants had expired on 12 June 2013.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The members of the Audit Committee at the end of the financial year were as follows:

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel (Chairman and Independent director)
Dr Lam Lee G (Independent director)
Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

All members of the Audit Committee were non-executive directors.

The Audit Committee carried out its functions in accordance with Section 201B(5) of the Singapore Companies Act. In 
performing those functions, the Committee reviewed:

(i) the scope and the results of internal audit procedures with the internal auditor;

(ii) the audit plan of the Company’s independent auditor and any recommendations on internal accounting controls 
arising from the statutory audit;

(iii) the statement of financial position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 before their submission to the 
Board of Directors, as well as the independent auditor’s report on the statement of financial position and the 
statement of changes in equity of the Company and the consolidated financial statements of the Group;

(iv) the co-operation and assistance given by the Company’s management to the independent auditor;

(v) the reappointment of the independent auditor of the Company; and

(vi) interested person transactions.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE (CONT’D)

The Audit Committee has full access to and has the co-operation of the management and has been given the resources 
required for it to discharge its function properly. It also has full discretion to invite any director and executive officer to 
attend its meetings. The independent auditor has unrestricted access to the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee has recommended to the Board that the independent auditor, Nexia TS Public Accounting 
Corporation be nominated for re-appointment as independent auditor of the Company at the forthcoming Annual General 
Meeting of the Company.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

The independent auditor, Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation, has expressed its willingness to accept re-appointment.

On behalf of the directors

Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja
Director

Hano Maeloa
Director

2 April 2014
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In the opinion of the directors,

(a) the statement of financial position and the statement of changes in equity of the Company and the consolidated 
financial statements of the Group as set out on pages 43 to 108 are drawn up so as to give a true and fair view of 
the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 December 2013 and of the results of the business, 
changes in equity and cash flows of the Group, and changes in equity of the Company for the financial year then 
ended; and

(b) at the date of this statement, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its 
debts as and when they fall due.

The Board of Directors has, on the date of this statement, authorised these financial statements for issue.

On behalf of the directors

Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja
Director

Hano Maeloa
Director

2 April 2014
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Top Global Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 43 to 108, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position 
and the statement of financial position of the Company as at 31 December 2013, the consolidated statement of changes in 
equity of the Group and the statement of changes in equity of the Company, the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income and the consolidated statement of cash flows of the Group for the financial year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with 
the provisions of the Singapore Companies Act (the “Act”) and Singapore Financial Reporting Standards, and for devising 
and maintaining a system of internal accounting controls sufficient to provide a reasonable assurance that assets are 
safeguarded against loss from unauthorised use or disposition; and transactions are properly authorised and that they 
are recorded as necessary to permit the preparation of true and fair profit and loss accounts and balance sheets and to 
maintain accountability of assets.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and 
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in order 
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of the Group, the statement of financial position and the statement 
of changes in equity of the Company are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and Singapore 
Financial Reporting Standards so as to give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and of the Company as 
at 31 December 2013, the results, changes in equity and cash flows of the Group and the changes in equity of the Company 
for the financial year ended on that date.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

In our opinion, the accounting and other records required by the Act to be kept by the Company and by those subsidiaries 
incorporated in Singapore, of which we are the auditors, have been properly kept in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act.

Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation
Public Accountants and Chartered Accountants

Director-in-charge: Chin Chee Choon
Appointed since financial year ended 31 December 2009

Singapore
2 April 2014
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Group Company
Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

ASSETS      
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 4 56,317 42,417 36,326 39,259
Financial assets, at fair value 
 through profit or loss 5 2,876 2,637 – –
Investment property 10 – 13,800 – –
Trade and other receivables 6 9,181 21,222 93,101 82,981
Development properties 7 208,635 198,040 – –

277,009 278,116 129,427 122,240

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 8 – – 8,520 6,520
Investments in associated companies 9 – – – –
Investment properties 10 9,550 – – –
Property, plant and equipment 11 397 8,457 79 52
Available-for-sale financial assets 12 1,079 1,043 – –
Held-to-maturity financial assets 13 8,341 7,128 – –

19,367 16,628 8,599 6,572

Total assets 296,376 294,744 138,026 128,812

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group Company
Note 2013 2012 2013 2012

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

LIABILITIES      
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 14 21,570 9,394 45,830 35,137
Borrowings 15 – 9,169 – –
Provision for other liabilities and charges 16 918 1,562 829 1,418

22,488 20,125 46,659 36,555

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 15 139,873 136,840 – –
Provision for other liabilities and charges 16 607 594 27 26

140,480 137,434 27 26

Total liabilities 162,968 157,559 46,686 36,581

NET ASSETS 133,408 137,185 91,340 92,231

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to
 equity holders of the Company
Share capital 17 123,745 122,809 123,745 122,809
Other reserves 18 4,817 4,164 4,914 4,282
Retained profits/(accumulated losses) 4,985 10,321 (37,319) (34,860)

133,547 137,294 91,340 92,231
Non-controlling interests (139) (109) – –

Total equity 133,408 137,185 91,340 92,231

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group
Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Revenue 19 14,039 5,541
Cost of sales (9,705) (1,627)

Gross profit 4,334 3,914
Other income 20 2,224 23,157
Other gains/(losses) – net 21 504 1,598
Expenses
– Distribution and marketing (3,673) (2,320)
– Administrative (8,775) (10,247)
– Finance 24 (25) (108)
Share of results of associated companies – (551)

(Loss)/profit before income tax (5,411) 15,443
Income tax expense 25 – –

(Loss)/profit for the year (5,411) 15,443

Other comprehensive (loss)/income:
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Currency translation differences arising from consolidation 18 (15) (38)
Currency translation differences on available-for-sale financial assets 18 36 (29)

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the year (5,390) 15,376

(Loss)/profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (5,336) 15,599
Non-controlling interests (75) (156)

(5,411) 15,443

Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to:
Equity holders of the Company (5,315) 15,532
Non-controlling interests (75) (156)

(5,390) 15,376

(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit attributable to 
 equity holders of the Company (cents per share)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share 26(a) (0.05) 0.14

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share 26(b) (0.03) 0.08

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

46 TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

 A
tt

ri
b

u
ta

b
le

 t
o

 e
q

u
it

y 
h

o
ld

e
rs

 

o
f 

th
e

 C
o

m
p

an
y

N
o

te

S
h

ar
e 

ca
p

it
al

S
h

ar
e 

o
p

ti
o

n 

re
se

rv
e

G
e

n
e

ra
l 

re
se

rv
e

T
ra

n
sl

at
io

n 

re
se

rv
e

F
ai

r 

va
lu

e 

re
se

rv
e

R
e

ta
in

e
d

 

p
ro

fi
ts

*/
 

(a
cc

u
m

u
la

te
d

 

lo
ss

e
s)

T
o

ta
l

N
o

n
-

co
n

tr
o

lli
n

g

in
te

re
st

s

T
o

ta
l 

e
q

u
it

y

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

$
’0

0
0

G
ro

u
p

2
0

1
3

B
e

g
in

n
in

g
 o

f 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 y
e

ar
12

2,
80

9
4,

28
2

(5
1)

(3
8)

(2
9)

10
,3

21
13

7,
29

4
(1

09
)

13
7,

18
5

E
xe

rc
is

e 
o

f 
w

ar
ra

nt
s

17
93

6
–

–
–

–
–

93
6

–
93

6

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

sh
ar

e 
o

p
ti

o
n 

sc
he

m
e

18
–

63
2

–
–

–
–

63
2

–
63

2

In
co

rp
o

ra
ti

o
n 

o
f 

su
b

si
d

ia
ry

–
–

–
–

–
–

–
45

45

T
o

ta
l c

o
m

p
re

he
ns

iv
e 

(lo
ss

)/
in

co
m

e 

 
fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
–

–
–

(1
5)

36
(5

,3
36

)
(5

,3
15

)
(7

5)
(5

,3
90

)

E
n

d
 o

f 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 y
e

ar
12

3,
74

5
4,

91
4

(5
1)

(5
3)

7
4,

98
5

13
3,

54
7

(1
39

)
13

3,
40

8

2
0

1
2

B
e

g
in

n
in

g
 o

f 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 y
e

ar
12

0,
61

3
1,

81
8

(5
1)

–
–

(5
,2

78
)

11
7,

10
2

47
11

7,
14

9

E
xe

rc
is

e 
o

f 
w

ar
ra

nt
s

17
2,

19
6

–
–

–
–

–
2,

19
6

–
2,

19
6

E
m

p
lo

ye
e 

sh
ar

e 
o

p
ti

o
n 

sc
he

m
e

18
–

2,
46

4
–

–
–

–
2,

46
4

–
2,

46
4

T
o

ta
l c

o
m

p
re

he
ns

iv
e 

(lo
ss

)/
in

co
m

e 

 
fo

r 
th

e 
ye

ar
–

–
–

(3
8)

(2
9)

15
,5

99
15

,5
32

(1
56

)
15

,3
76

E
n

d
 o

f 
fi

n
an

ci
al

 y
e

ar
12

2,
80

9
4,

28
2

(5
1)

(3
8)

(2
9)

10
,3

21
13

7,
29

4
(1

09
)

13
7,

18
5

* 
R

et
ai

ne
d

 p
ro

fit
s 

o
f 

th
e 

G
ro

up
 a

re
 d

is
tr

ib
ut

ab
le

.

Th
e 

ac
co

m
p

an
yi

ng
 n

o
te

s 
fo

rm
 a

n 
in

te
g

ra
l p

ar
t 

o
f 

th
es

e 
fin

an
ci

al
 s

ta
te

m
en

ts



STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

47TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

Note
Share 
capital

Share 
option 
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company
2013
Beginning of financial year 122,809 4,282 (34,860) 92,231
Exercise of warrants 17 936 – – 936
Employee share option scheme 18 – 632 – 632
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (2,459) (2,459)

End of financial year 123,745 4,914 (37,319) 91,340

2012
Beginning of financial year 120,613 1,818 (28,101) 94,330
Exercise of warrants 17 2,196 – – 2,196
Employee share option scheme 18 – 2,464 – 2,464
Total comprehensive loss for the year – – (6,759) (6,759)

End of financial year 122,809 4,282 (34,860) 92,231

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group
Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from operating activities    
(Loss)/profit for the year (5,411) 15,443
Adjustments for:
– Reversal of impairment on trade receivables 21 – (11)
– Dividend income 20 (37) (40)
– Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 22 246 173
– Employee share option expense 23 632 2,464
– (Gain)/loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 21 (1) 3
– Gain on disposal of associated companies 20 – (21,191)
– Loss on disposal of held-to-maturity financial assets 21 – 92
– Fair value gain on financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 21 (239) (585)
– Fair value gain on investment property 21 – (1,437)
– Share of results of associated companies 9 – 551
– Currency translation (gain)/loss (239) 335
– Interest income 20 (1,711) (1,437)
– Interest expense 24 25 108

(6,735) (5,532)
Changes in working capital
– Trade and other receivables 642 (567)
– Development properties (10,595) (184,791)
– Trade and other payables 12,176 3,537
– Provision for other liabilities and charges (643) (541)

Cash used in operations (5,155) (187,894)
– Interest received 750 319

Net cash used in operating activities (4,405) (187,575)

Cash flows from investing activities
Additions to property, plant and equipment (1,736) (4,164)
Dividend received 37 40
Proceeds from disposal of associated companies 11,400 50,000
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 –
Proceeds from disposal of investment property 13,800 –
Proceeds from disposal of held-to-maturity financial assets – 1,912
Purchase of available-for-sale financial assets – (1,072)
Purchase of held-to-maturity financial assets – (8,397)

Net cash generated from investing activities 23,502 38,319

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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Group
Note 2013 2012

$’000 $’000

Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issuance of shares from conversion of warrants 17 936 2,196
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares to non-controlling interests 45 –
Proceeds from borrowings 3,033 146,440
Repayment of borrowings (9,169) (431)
Deposits under pledged to bank – 395
Interest paid (13) (104)

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (5,168) 148,496

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 13,929 (760)

Cash and cash equivalents
Beginning of financial year 42,297 43,051
Effects of currency translation on cash and cash equivalents (29) 6

End of financial year 4 56,197 42,297

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements
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These notes form an integral part of and should be read in conjunction with the accompanying financial statements.

1 GENERAL INFORMATION

Top Global Limited (the “Company”) (Registration No.: 198003719Z) is listed on Singapore Exchange Securities 
Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”) and incorporated and domiciled in Singapore. The address of its registered office and 
its principal place of business is 1 Scotts Road #20-03 Shaw Centre Singapore 228208.

The principal activities of the Company are in property development and investment in real estate related businesses. 
The principal activities of its subsidiaries and associated companies are disclosed in Notes 8 and 9 to the financial 
statements.

2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Singapore Financial Reporting Standards 
(“FRS”) under the historical cost convention, except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The financial statements are presented in Singapore Dollar (“SGD or $”) and all values in the tables are 
rounded to the nearest thousand ($’000) as indicated.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with FRS requires management to exercise its judgement 
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. It also requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates and assumptions. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3.

Interpretations and amendments to published standards effective in 2013

On 1 January 2013, the Group adopted the new or amended FRS and Interpretations to FRS (“INT FRS”) that 
are mandatory for application for the financial year. Changes to the Group’s accounting policies have been 
made as required, in accordance with the transitional provisions in the respective FRS and INT FRS.

The adoption of these new or amended FRS and INT FRS did not result in substantial changes to the 
accounting policies of the Group and the Company and had no material effect on the amounts reported for 
the current or prior financial years.

Amendment to FRS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income

The Group has adopted the amendment to FRS 1 Presentation of items of Other Comprehensive Income on 
1 January 2013. It requires items presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”) to be separated into two 
groups, based on whether or not they may be recycled to profit or loss in future.

An additional statement of financial position and related notes at the beginning of the earliest comparative 
period is not presented as there is no impact on the statement of financial position.

FRS 113 Fair Value Measurement

FRS 113 aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by providing a precise definition of fair value and 
a single source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements for use across FRSs. The requirements 
do not extend the use of fair value accounting but provide guidance on how it should be applied where its 
use is already required or permitted by other standards within FRSs.

The adoption of FRS 113 does not have any material impact on the accounting policies of the Group. The 
Group has incorporated the additional disclosures required by FRS 113 into the financial statements.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2 Group accounting

(a) Subsidiaries

(i) Consolidation

Subsidiaries are entities (including special purpose entities) over which the Group has power to 
govern the financial and operating policies so as to obtain benefits from its activities, generally 
accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to a majority of the voting rights. The existence 
and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered 
when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date 
on which control ceases.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, transactions, balances and unrealised gains 
on transactions between group entities are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated 
but are considered an impairment indicator of the asset transferred. Accounting policies 
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests are that part of the net results of operations and of net assets of 
a subsidiary attributable to the interests which are not owned directly or indirectly by the 
equity holders of the Company. They are shown separately in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position. 
Total comprehensive income is attributed to the non-controlling interests based on their 
respective interests in a subsidiary, even if this results in the non-controlling interests having 
a deficit balance.

(ii) Acquisitions

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the 
Group.

The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary or business comprises the fair 
value of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the 
Group. The consideration transferred also includes the fair value of any contingent consideration 
arrangement.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit 
or loss.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2 Group accounting (Cont’d)

(a) Subsidiaries (Cont’d)

(ii) Acquisitions (Cont’d)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date.

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree at the date of acquisition either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

The excess of (a) the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in 
the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previously-held equity interest in the 
acquiree over the (b) fair values of the identifiable assets acquired net of the fair values of the 
liabilities and any contingent liabilities assumed, is recorded as goodwill.

(iii) Disposals

When a change in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary results in a loss of control 
over the subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary including any goodwill are 
derecognised. Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that 
entity are also reclassified to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained profits if required 
by a specific Standard.

Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at fair value. The difference between 
the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when control is lost and its fair value 
is recognised in profit or loss.

Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in subsidiaries in the separate financial statements of the 
Company.

(b) Transactions with non-controlling interests

Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in a subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control over 
the subsidiary are accounted for as transactions with equity owners of the Company. Any difference 
between the change in the carrying amounts of the non-controlling interest and the fair value of the 
consideration paid or received is recognised within equity attributable to the equity holders of the 
Company.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2 Group accounting (Cont’d)

(c) Associated companies

Associated companies are entities over which the Group has significant influence, but not control, 
generally accompanied by a shareholding giving rise to voting rights of 20% and above but not 
exceeding 50%. Investments in associated companies are accounted for in the consolidated financial 
statements using the equity method of accounting less impairment losses.

(i) Acquisitions

Investments in associated companies are initially recognised at cost. The cost of an acquisition 
is measured at the fair value of the assets given, equity instruments issued or liabilities incurred 
or assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly attributable to the acquisition. Goodwill 
on associated companies represents the excess of the cost of acquisition of the associate over 
the Group’s share of the fair value of the identifiable net assets of the associate and is included 
in the carrying amount of the investments.

(ii) Equity method of accounting

In applying the equity method of accounting, the Group’s share of its associated companies’ 
post-acquisition profits or losses are recognised in profit or loss and its share of post-
acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive income. These 
post-acquisition movements and distributions received from the associated companies are 
adjusted against the carrying amount of the investments. When the Group’s share of losses in 
an associated company equals to or exceeds its interest in the associated company, including 
any other unsecured non-current receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, 
unless it has obligations to make or has made payments on behalf of the associated company.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associated companies are eliminated 
to the extent of the Group’s interest in the associated companies. Unrealised losses are also 
eliminated unless the transactions provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred. The 
accounting policies of associated companies have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the Group.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.2 Group accounting (Cont’d)

(c) Associated companies (Cont’d)

(iii) Disposals

Investments in associated companies are derecognised when the Group loses significant 
influence. Any retained equity interest in the entity is remeasured at its fair value. The difference 
between the carrying amount of the retained interest at the date when significant influence is 
lost and its fair value is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains and losses arising from partial disposals or dilutions in investments in associated 
companies in which significant influence is retained are recognised in profit or loss.

Please refer to the paragraph “Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies” for the 
accounting policy on investments in associated companies in the separate financial statements 
of the Company.

2.3 Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses 
in the Company’s statement of financial position. On disposal of such investments, the difference between 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amounts of the investments are recognised in profit or loss.

2.4 Property, plant and equipment

(a) Measurement

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

(ii) Components of costs

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment initially recognised includes its purchase 
price and any cost that is directly attributable to bringing the asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

The projected cost of dismantlement, removal or restoration recognised as part of the cost of 
property, plant and equipment if such obligation for the dismantlement, removal or restoration 
is incurred as a consequence of either acquiring the asset or using the asset for purpose other 
than to produce inventories.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.4 Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

(b) Depreciation

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their depreciable amounts over their estimated useful lives as follows:

 Useful lives
Plant and equipment 3 years
Motor vehicles 5 years
Furniture and fittings 3 years
Leasehold improvement 3 years

The residual values, estimated useful lives and depreciation method of property, plant and equipment 
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The effects of any 
revision are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

Assets under construction represent the costs of assets under development. When assets under 
construction are completed and become operational they are recognised as property, plant and 
equipment and depreciated over their useful lives.

Fully depreciated assets are retained in the financial statements until they are no longer in use.

(c) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure relating to property, plant and equipment that has already been recognised 
is added to the carrying amount of the asset only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the entity and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All 
other repair and maintenance expenses are recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

(d) Disposal

On disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment, the difference between the disposal proceeds 
and its carrying amount is recognised in profit or loss within ‘Other gains/(losses)-net’.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.5 Investment properties

Investment properties represent commercial building that is held for long-term rental yields. Investment 
properties include properties that are constructed or developed for future use as investment properties.

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at fair value, determined 
annually by independent professional valuers on the highest-and-best-use basis. Changes in fair values are 
recognised in profit or loss.

The cost of major renovations and improvements is capitalised and the carrying amounts of the replaced 
components are recognised in profit or loss. The cost of maintenance, repairs and minor improvements is 
recognised in profit or loss when incurred.

On disposal of an investment property, the difference between the disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 
is recognised in profit or loss.

2.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investments in subsidiaries and associated companies

Property, plant and equipment and investments in subsidiaries and associated companies are tested for 
impairment whenever there is any objective evidence or indication that these assets may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (i.e. the higher of the fair value less cost to 
sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis unless the asset does not generate cash 
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets. If this is the case, the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating-units (“CGU”) to which the asset belongs.

If the recoverable amount of the asset (or CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount.

The difference between the carrying amount and recoverable amount is recognised as an impairment loss 
in profit or loss.

An impairment loss for an asset is reversed only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised. The carrying amount of this 
asset is increased to its revised recoverable amount, provided that this amount does not exceed the carrying 
amount that would have been determined (net of any accumulated amortisation or depreciation) had no 
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.

A reversal of impairment loss for an asset is recognised in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.7 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or 
loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity and available-for-sale. The classification depends on the 
nature of the asset and the purpose for which the assets were acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at initial recognition and in the case of assets classified as held-to-
maturity, re-evaluates this designation at the end of each reporting period.

(i) Financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss

This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading, and those designated 
at fair value through profit or loss at inception. A financial asset is classified as held for 
trading if it is acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Financial assets 
designated as at fair value through profit or loss at inception are those that are managed and 
their performances are evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with a documented Group 
investment strategy. Assets in this category are presented as current assets if they are either held 
for trading or are expected to be realised within 12 months after the end of the reporting period.

(ii) Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments 
that are not quoted in an active market. They are presented as current assets, except for those 
expected to be realised later than 12 months after the end of the reporting period which are 
presented as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are presented as “trade and other 
receivables” (Note 6) and “cash and cash equivalents” (Note 4) on the statement of financial 
position.

(iii) Held-to-maturity financial assets

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable 
payments and fixed maturities that the Group’s management has the positive intention and 
ability to hold to maturity. If the Group were to sell other than an insignificant amount of held-
to-maturity financial assets, the whole category would be tainted and reclassified as available-
for-sale. They are presented as non-current assets, except for those maturing within 12 months 
after the end of the reporting period which are presented as current assets.

(iv) Available-for-sale financial assets

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivatives that are either designated in this category 
or not classified in any of the other categories. They are presented as non-current assets unless 
the investment matures or management intends to dispose of the assets within 12 months after 
the end of the reporting period.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.7 Financial assets (Cont’d)

(b) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade date – the date on which 
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have 
expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of 
ownership. On disposal of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount and the sale 
proceeds is recognised in profit or loss. Any amount previously recognised in other comprehensive 
income relating to that asset is reclassified to profit or loss.

(c) Initial measurement

Financial assets are initially recognised at fair value plus transaction costs except for financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, which are recognised at fair value. Transaction costs for financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss are recognised immediately as expenses.

(d) Subsequent measurement

Available-for-sale financial assets and financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables and held-to-maturity financial assets are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Changes in the fair values of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss including the effects of 
currency translation, interest and dividends, are recognised in profit or loss when the changes arise.

Interest and dividend income on available-for-sale financial assets are recognised separately in income. 
Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale debt securities (i.e. monetary items) denominated in 
foreign currencies are analysed into currency translation differences on the amortised cost of the 
securities and other changes; the currency translation differences are recognised in profit or loss and 
the other changes are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value 
reserve. Changes in the fair values of available-for-sale equity securities (i.e. non-monetary items) are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the fair value reserve, together with 
the related currency translation differences.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.7 Financial assets (Cont’d)

(e) Impairment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and recognises an allowance for impairment 
when such evidence exists.

(i) Loans and receivables/Held-to-maturity financial assets

Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy 
and default or significant delay in payments are objective evidence that these financial assets 
are impaired.

The carrying amount of these assets is reduced through the use of an impairment allowance 
account which is calculated as the difference between the carrying amount and the present value 
of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. When the asset 
becomes uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries 
of amounts previously written off are recognised against the same line item in profit or loss.

The impairment allowance is reduced through profit or loss in a subsequent period when the 
amount of impairment loss decreases and the related decrease can be objectively measured. 
The carrying amount of the asset previously impaired is increased to the extent that the new 
carrying amount does not exceed the amortised cost had no impairment been recognised in 
prior periods.

(ii) Available-for-sale financial assets

In addition to the objective evidence of impairment described in Note 2.7(e)(i), a significant 
or prolonged decline in the fair value of an equity security below its cost is considered as an 
indicator that the available-for-sale financial asset is impaired.

If any evidence of impairment exists, the cumulative loss that was previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss. The cumulative loss is measured as the 
difference between the acquisition cost (net of any principal repayments and amortisation) 
and the current fair value, less any impairment loss previously recognised as an expense. The 
impairment losses recognised as an expense on equity securities are not reversed through 
profit or loss.

(f) Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset and there is an intention to settle on a net 
basis or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.8 Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract can be estimated reliably, contract revenue and contract costs 
are recognised as revenue and expenses respectively by reference to the stage of completion of the contract 
activity at the end of the reporting period (“percentage-of-completion method”). When the outcome of a 
construction contract cannot be estimated reliably, contract revenue is recognised to the extent of contract 
costs incurred that are likely to be recoverable. When it is probable that total contract costs will exceed total 
contract revenue, the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Contract revenue comprises the initial amount of revenue agreed in the contract and variations in the contract 
work and claims that can be measured reliably. A variation or a claim is recognised as contract revenue when 
it is probable that the customer will approve the variation or negotiations have reached an advanced stage 
such that it is probable that the customer will accept the claim.

The stage of completion is measured by reference to the proportion of contract costs incurred to date to 
the estimated total costs for the contract. Costs incurred during the financial year in connection with future 
activity on a contract are excluded from the costs incurred to date when determining the stage of completion 
of a contract. Such costs are shown as construction contract work-in-progress on the consolidated statement 
of financial position unless it is not probable that such contract costs are recoverable from the customers, in 
which case, such costs are recognised as an expense immediately.

At the end of the reporting period, the cumulative costs incurred plus recognised profit (less recognised 
losses) on each contract is compared against the progress billings. Where the cumulative costs incurred plus 
the recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceed progress billings, the surplus representing amount 
due from customers is shown as construction contracts within “trade and other receivables”. Where progress 
billings exceed the cumulative costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses), the surplus 
representing amount due to customers is shown as advances received within “trade and other payables”.

2.9 Development properties

Development properties are those properties which are held with the intention for development and sale in 
the ordinary course of business. They are stated at the lower of cost plus a portion of attributable profit (where 
appropriate) less progress billings and the estimated net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the 
estimated selling price less costs to be incurred in selling the property.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.9 Development properties (Cont’d)

The cost of properties under development comprise specifically identified costs, including acquisition costs, 
development expenditure, borrowing costs and other related expenditure. Borrowing costs payable on 
loans funding a development property are also capitalised, on a specific identification basis as part of the 
cost of the development property until the completion of development. The cumulative impact of a revision 
in estimates is recorded in the period such revisions become likely and estimable. When it is probable that 
cost of development property will exceed sale proceed of the development property, the expected loss 
is recognised as an expense immediately. The development properties in progress have operating cycles 
longer than one year.

2.10 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the 
end of financial year which are unpaid. They are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one 
year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). Otherwise, they are presented as 
non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method.

2.11 Provisions

Provisions for warranty, restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources 
will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not 
recognised for future operating losses.

The Group recognises the estimated liability to repair or replace products still under warranty at the end of 
the reporting period. This provision is calculated based on historical experience of the level of repairs and 
replacements.

Other provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects the current market assessment of the time value of money 
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised 
in profit or loss as finance expense.

Changes in the estimated timing or amount of the expenditure or discount rate are recognised in profit or 
loss when the changes arise.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.12 Financial guarantees

The Company has issued corporate guarantees to banks for borrowings of its subsidiaries. These guarantees 
are financial guarantees as they require the Company to reimburse the banks if the subsidiaries fail to make 
principal or interest payments when due in accordance with the terms of their borrowings.

Financial guarantees are initially recognised at their fair values plus transaction costs in the Company’s 
statement of financial position.

Financial guarantees are subsequently amortised to profit or loss over the period of the subsidiaries’ 
borrowings, unless it is probable that the Company will reimburse the banks for an amount higher than the 
unamortised amount. In this case, the financial guarantees shall be carried at the expected amount payable 
to the banks in the Company’s statement of financial position.

Intra-group transactions are eliminated on consolidation.

2.13 Borrowings

Borrowings are presented as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period, in which case they are presented as non-current 
liabilities.

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value (net of transaction costs) and subsequently carried at amortised 
cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised 
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest method.

2.14 Revenue recognition

Sales comprise the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering 
of services in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Sales are presented, net of goods and services 
tax, rebates and discounts, and after eliminating sales within the Group.

The Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue and related cost can be reliably measured, it is 
probable that the collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assured and when the specific criteria 
for each of the Group’s activities are met as follows:

(a) Rental income

Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) is recognised on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.14 Revenue recognition (Cont’d)

(b) Revenue from construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts are recognised based on the percentage-of-completion method 
as disclosed in Note 2.8.

(c) Rendering of service and car park rental

Revenue from services is recognised when services are rendered.

(d) Revenue from development properties

Development properties for sale

The Group recognises income on property development projects when the significant risks and rewards 
of ownership have been transferred to the purchasers.

For development projects under progressive payment scheme in Singapore, whereby the legal terms 
in the sale contracts result in continuous transfer of work-in-progress to the purchasers, revenue is 
recognised based on the percentage of completion method. Under the percentage of completion 
method, profit is brought into profit or loss only in respect of sales procured and to the extent that 
such profit relates to the progress of construction work. The progress of construction work is measured 
by the proportion of the construction costs incurred to date to the estimated total construction costs 
for each project.

(e) Interest income

Interest income, including income arising from other financial instruments, is recognised using the 
effective interest method.

(f) Management fee income

Management fee income is recognised when services are rendered.

(g) Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised when the right to receive payment is established.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.15 Employee compensation

Employee benefits are recognised as an expense, unless the cost qualifies to be capitalised as an asset.

(a) Defined contribution plans

Defined contribution plans are post-employment benefit plans under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into separate entities such as the Central Provident Fund on a mandatory, contractual or 
voluntary basis. The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid.

(b) Employee leave entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A provision 
is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up 
to the end of the reporting period.

(c) Share-based compensation

The Group operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan. The value of the employee 
services received in exchange for the grant of options is recognised as an expense with a corresponding 
increase in the share option reserve over the vesting period. The total amount to be recognised over 
the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted on the date of 
the grant. Non-market vesting conditions are included in the estimation of the number of shares under 
options that are expected to become exercisable on the vesting date. At the end of each reporting 
period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of shares under options that are expected to 
become exercisable on the vesting date and recognises the impact of the revision of the estimates in 
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve over the remaining vesting 
period.

When the options are exercised, the proceeds received (net of transaction costs) and the related 
balance previously recognised in the share option reserve are credited to share capital account, when 
new ordinary shares are issued, or to the “treasury shares” account, when treasury shares are re-issued 
to the employees.

If an equity-settled, share-based compensation is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested on the date 
of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the compensation is recognised immediately.

2.16 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method except for those costs that 
are directly attributable to the development of properties and assets under construction. This includes those 
costs on borrowings acquired specifically for the development of properties and assets under construction, 
as well as those in relation to general borrowings used to finance the development of properties and assets 
under construction.

The actual borrowing costs incurred during the period up to the issuance of the temporary occupation 
permit less any investment income on temporary investment of these borrowings, are capitalised in the cost 
of the property under development. Borrowing costs on general borrowings are capitalised by applying a 
capitalisation rate to development expenditures that are financed by general borrowings.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.17 Fair value estimation of financial assets and liabilities

The fair values of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as exchange-traded and over-the-counter 
securities and derivatives) are based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted 
market prices used for financial assets are the current bid prices.

The fair values of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market are determined by using 
valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions based on market 
conditions that are existing at end of each reporting period. Where appropriate, quoted market prices or 
dealer quotes for similar instruments are used. Valuation techniques, such as discounted cash flow analysis, 
are also used to determine the fair values of the financial instruments.

The carrying amounts of current financial assets and liabilities carried at amortised cost approximate their 
fair values.

2.18 Leases

(a) When the Group is the lessee:

The Group leases land, premises and office equipment under operating leases from non-related parties.

Lessee – Operating leases

Leases where substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are retained by the lessors are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received 
from the lessors) are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

(b) When the Group is the lessor:

The Group leases land, premises and investment properties under operating leases to non-related 
parties.

Lessor – Operating leases

Leases where the Group retains substantially all risks and rewards incidental to ownership are classified 
as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases (net of any incentives given to the lessees) 
is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Contingent rents are recognised as income in profit or loss when earned.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.19 Income taxes

Current income tax for current and prior periods is recognised at the amount expected to be paid to or 
recovered from the tax authorities, using the tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred income tax is recognised for all temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements except when the deferred income tax arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination 
and affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction.

A deferred income tax liability is recognised on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries 
and associated companies, except where the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

A deferred income tax asset is recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is measured:

(i) at the tax rates that are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or 
the deferred income tax liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period; and

(ii) based on the tax consequence that will follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end 
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amounts of its assets and liabilities except 
for investment properties. Investment property measured at fair value is presumed to be recovered 
entirely through sale.

Current and deferred income taxes are recognised as income or expense in profit or loss.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.20 Currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the Group are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“functional currency”). The financial 
statements are presented in Singapore Dollar, which is the functional currency of the Company.

(b) Transactions and balances

Transactions in a currency other than the functional currency (“foreign currency”) are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions. Currency translation 
differences resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the closing rates at the end of the reporting 
period are recognised in profit or loss. However, in the consolidated financial statements, currency 
translation differences arising from borrowings in foreign currencies and other currency instruments 
designated and qualifying as net investment hedges and net investment in foreign operations, are 
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the currency translation reserve.

When a foreign operation is disposed of or any loan forming part of the net investment of the foreign 
operation is repaid, a proportionate share of the accumulated currency translation differences is 
reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

Foreign exchange gain and losses that relate to borrowings are presented in profit or loss within 
“finance expense”. All other foreign exchange gains and losses impacting profit or loss are presented 
in profit or loss within “Other gains/(losses)-net”.

Non-monetary items measured at fair values in foreign currencies are translated using the exchange 
rates at the date when the fair values are determined.

(c) Translation of Group entities’ financial statements

The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(i) assets and liabilities are translated at the closing exchange rates at the end of the reporting 
period;

(ii) income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates (unless the average is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction 
dates, in which case income and expenses are translated using the exchange rates at the dates 
of the transactions); and

(iii) all resulting currency translation differences are recognised in other comprehensive income 
and accumulated in the currency translation reserve. These currency translation differences 
are reclassified to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the entity giving rise to such 
reserve.
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2 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

2.21 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief 
executive officer who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating 
segments.

2.22 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include 
cash on hand and deposits with financial institutions which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in 
value, less cash subject to restriction.

2.23 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new ordinary 
shares are deducted against the share capital account.

2.24 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised as a receivable at their fair value when there is reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all the attached conditions.

Government grants receivable are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the 
related costs which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis. Government grants relating to 
expenses are shown separately as other income.

Government grants relating to assets are deducted against the carrying amount of the assets.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates, assumptions and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

(a) Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Provisions for warranty claims are based on (i) % of the contract sum; and (ii) physical verification by surveyor 
of the defect liabilities. The warranty period ranges between 10-14 years.

Provisions for other liabilities and charges mainly comprise amounts related to contractual obligations and 
penalties to customers and estimated losses on customer contracts, as well as supplier or subcontractor claims 
and/or disputes. Management estimates the required amounts of provision based on past experience and 
similar risk characteristics. As at 31 December 2013, provision for other liabilities and charges amounted to 
$1,525,000 (2012: $2,156,000).

If claims cost differ by 10% from management’s estimates, the provision for other liabilities and charges will 
be an estimated $153,000 (2012: $216,000) higher or lower.
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3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES, ASSUMPTIONS AND JUDGEMENTS (CONT’D)

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (Cont’d)

(b) Impairment of loans and receivables

Management reviews its loans and receivables for objective evidence of impairment at least quarterly.
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, the probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy, and 
default or significant delay in payments are considered objective evidence that a receivable is impaired. 
In determining this, management has made judgement as to whether there is observable data indicating 
that there has been a significant change in the payment ability of the debtor, or whether there have been 
significant changes with adverse effect in the technological, market, economic or legal environment in which 
the debtor operates in.

Where there is objective evidence of impairment, management has made judgements as to whether an 
impairment loss should be recorded as an expense. In determining this, management has used estimates 
based on historical loss experience for assets with similar credit risk characteristics. The methodology and 
assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of future cash flows are reviewed regularly to 
reduce any differences between the estimated loss and actual loss experience. The carrying amount of the 
receivables is disclosed in Note 6 to the financial statements.

If the net present values of estimated cash flows had been lower by 10% from management’s estimates for 
all past due loans and receivables, the allowance for impairment of the Group and the Company would have 
been higher by $864,000 and $9,281,000 (2012: $2,010,000 and $8,214,000) respectively.

(c) Revenue from development properties

The Group recognises revenue for sales of development properties by reference to the stage of completion 
of the properties. The stage of completion is measured by reference to the contract costs incurred to date 
compared to the estimated total costs (including costs to complete) of the projects.

Significant assumptions are required to estimate the total contract costs and the recoverable variation works 
that will affect the stage of completion and the contract revenue respectively. In making these estimates, 
management has relied on past experience and the work of specialists. The carrying amount of development 
properties at the end of the reporting period is disclosed in Note 7.

If the total contract costs of uncompleted properties increase/decrease by 10% from management’s estimates, 
the Group’s revenue and profit would have been higher/lower by $868,442/$1,061,000 and $442,000/$540,000 
respectively.
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4 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Cash at bank and on hand 5,058 3,546 192 743
Cash at bank - project account(1) 7,826 – – –
Short-term bank deposits 43,433 38,871 36,134 38,516

56,317 42,417 36,326 39,259

Short-term bank deposits amounting to $120,000 (2012: $120,000) have been pledged to banks as securities for the 
banking facilities of certain subsidiaries.

Short-term bank deposits are made for varying periods of between one month and twelve months depending on 
the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interests at the respective short-term deposit rates.

(1) The cash is held under the Housing Developer Act (Project Account) Rules (1997 Ed.), withdrawals from 
which are restricted to payments for expenditure incurred on project under development and conditions as 
stipulated under the said Rules.

For the purpose of presenting the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise the 
following:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Cash and bank balances (as above) 56,317 42,417
Less: Bank deposits pledged (120) (120)

Cash and cash equivalents per consolidated statement of cash flows 56,197 42,297

5 FINANCIAL ASSETS, AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Designated at fair value on initial recognition   
Listed securities
– Singapore 504 537
– United States 2,372 2,100

2,876 2,637



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

71TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

6 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade receivables     
– Non-related parties 2,064 2,144 2,045 2,045
Less: Allowance for impairment 
   of trade receivables (Note 30) (2,045) (2,045) (2,045) (2,045)

Trade receivables – net 19 99 – –

Other receivables
– Subsidiaries – – 93,545 82,640
– Non-related parties 8,625 20,000 – –
Less: Allowance for impairment 
   of other receivables – – (732) (497)

Other receivables – net 8,625 20,000 92,813 82,143

Deposits 98 600 53 553
Prepayments 351 406 153 169
Accrued interest receivables 88 102 82 102
Deferred expenses – 15 – 14

9,181 21,222 93,101 82,981

The non-trade amounts due from subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable on demand.

The non-trade amount due from non-related party is secured, interest-free and with a fixed term of repayment.

Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Movement in allowance for impairment of other receivables:   
Beginning of financial year 497 599
Allowance made 235 –
Reversal of allowance made – (102)

End of financial year 732 497
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7 DEVELOPMENT PROPERTIES

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Properties under development, sold units for which revenue is 
 recognised using percentage of completion method   
Aggregate cost incurred and profits recognised 
 (less losses recognised) to date on uncompleted construction contracts 218,253 198,040
Progress billings (9,618) –

Total development properties 208,635 198,040

During the financial year, $2,455,000 (2012: $1,491,000) of borrowing costs was capitalised as cost of development 
properties. The interest rates are between 1.74% to 1.81% (2012: 1.68% to 1.92%).

The freehold lands under development have been pledged as security for borrowings (Note 15).

As at 31 December 2013, the development properties held by the Group are as follows:

Location Description Tenure

Stage of 

completion

Expected 

date of 

completion

Site area 

(sq. m)

Gross 

floor 

area 

(sq. m)

Group’s 

effective 

interest 

in the 

property

% %

Properties in the course of development

Braddell Road 

 Singapore

5 storey 

 apartments 

 with facilities

Freehold 11.8 June 2016 7,700 10,780 95

Sommerville Walk 

 Singapore

5 storey 

 apartments 

 with facilities

Freehold 13.9 June 2016 2,555 3,577 95

Bartley Road 

 Singapore

5 storey 

 apartments 

 with facilities

Freehold 3.8 December 2016 7,084 9,917 100
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8 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES

Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Equity investments at cost   
Beginning of financial year 7,545 2,000
Addition 2,000 *
Financial guarantee – 5,545

9,545 7,545
Less: Allowance for impairment (1,025) (1,025)

End of financial year 8,520 6,520

* Less than $1,000

The Company provides financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries.

Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Movement in allowance for impairment of investments 
 in subsidiaries:   
Beginning of financial year 1,025 1,000
Allowance made – 25

End of financial year 1,025 1,025

Management had assessed impairment test on its loss making subsidiaries. An impairment loss of $Nil (2012: $25,000) 
was recognised to write down the cost of investment to its recoverable amount.
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8 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries Principal activities
Country of 
incorporation

Equity holding
2013 2012

% %
Held by the Company
(a) Raintree Cove Pte. Ltd. Property and facility 

 management
Singapore 100 100

(a) Top Global Properties Pte. Ltd. Property development Singapore 100 100
(a)(g) GMB Assets Management 

 Pte. Ltd. (formerly known as 
 Global Sunshine Capital Pte. Ltd.)

Dormant Singapore 100 –

(a) Top Global China Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 100
(c)(f) Top Global (M) Sdn. Bhd. Dormant Malaysia – 100
(a) Top Global Construction 

 Management Pte. Ltd.
Dormant Singapore 100 100

(a)(f) Entro Development Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore – 100
(a) Top Capital Investment Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 100
(a) Top Global Hospitality Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 100
(a) Top Tomlinson One Pte. Ltd. Property investment Singapore 100 100
(a) Top Tomlinson Two Pte. Ltd. Property investment Singapore 100 100
(a) Global Real Estate Investment Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 100 80
(a) Top Global Property Investment Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 100 100
(a) Top Global Real Estate Investment 

 Pte. Ltd.
Investment holding Singapore 100 100

(a) Top Capitol Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 100 100
(a) Global Capitol Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 100 100
(a) Global Star Development Pte. Ltd. Real estate developers Singapore 95 95
(a) Margaritaville Investments Holding 

 Pte. Ltd.
Investment holding Singapore 100 100

Held by Top Global Properties Pte. Ltd.
(a)(f) Entro Development Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 –

Held by GMB Assets Management Pte. Ltd.
 (formerly know as Global Sunshine Capital Pte. Ltd.)
(a)(e) GMB Capital Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 55 –

Held by Top Global Construction Management Pte. Ltd.
(c)(f) Top Global (M) Sdn. Bhd. Dormant Malaysia 100 –
(d) Top Global Mongolia LLC Dormant Mongolia – 100
(c)(e) Pacific Prosperity Sdn. Bhd. Dormant Malaysia 50 –
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Name of subsidiaries Principal activities
Country of 
incorporation

Equity holding
2013 2012

% %
Held by Top Global Hospitality Pte. Ltd.
(b) Winsland Resources Incorporated Dormant British Virgin 

 Islands
100 100

(b)(d) Sunshine Capital (Asia), Ltd Dormant British Virgin 
 Islands

– 100

(a)(g) GMB Assets Management Pte. Ltd.
  (formerly known as Global Sunshine 
 Capital Pte. Ltd.)

Dormant Singapore – 100

Held by Global Real Estate Investment Pte. Ltd.
(a) Bartley Homes Pte. Ltd. Real estate developer Singapore 100 100

Held by Top Global Property Investment Pte. Ltd.
(b) PT. Top Global Indonesia Dormant Indonesia 1 1

Held by Top Global Real Estate Investment Pte. Ltd.
(b) PT. Top Global Indonesia Dormant Indonesia 99 99

Held by Top Capitol Pte. Ltd.
(a) Top Property Investment Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 20 20

Held by Global Capitol Pte. Ltd.
(a) Top Property Investment Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore 80 80

Held by Entro Development Pte. Ltd.
(a) Cerapure Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 100
(a) Global Real Estate Investment Pte. Ltd. Investment holding Singapore – 20

Held by Top Global (M) Sdn. Bhd.
(c)(e) Pacific Prosperity Sdn. Bhd. Dormant Malaysia 50 –

Held by Cerapure Pte. Ltd.
(e) Marvel Development Holdings Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 –

Held by Marvel Development Holdings Pte. Ltd.
(e) Gerbang Development Holdings Pte. Ltd. Dormant Singapore 100 –

(a) Audited by Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation, Singapore
(b) Not required to be audited under the laws of the country of incorporation
(c) Audited by S. K. Tee & Co., Malaysia
(d) De-registered from the Registrar of Company of the country during the financial year
(e) Newly incorporated during the financial year ended 31 December 2013
(f) Shareholding transferred from the Company to subsidiaries within the Group
(g) Shareholding transferred from subsidiaries within the Group to the Company

8 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

Details of the subsidiaries are as follows: (Cont’d)
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8 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (CONT’D)

In accordance to Rule 716 of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited-Listing Rules, the Audit Committee 
and the Board of Directors of the Company confirmed that they are satisfied that the appointment of different 
auditors for its subsidiaries would not compromise the standard and effectiveness of the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements.

9 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year – 20,103
Share of results – (551)
Disposal of associated companies – (19,552)

End of financial year – –

On 29 May 2012, a subsidiary of the Company, Top Property Investment Pte. Ltd. (“TPI”), has completed the sale and 
purchase agreement with Chesham Properties Pte. Ltd. and New Capitol Pte. Ltd. (collectively, the “Purchasers”), 
pursuant to which TPI has agreed to sell and the Purchasers have agreed to acquire TPI’s interest in the associated 
companies for an aggregate consideration of $70,000,000 with a net gain on disposal of $21,191,000.

10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Current assets   
Beginning of financial year 13,800 12,363
Disposal (13,800) –
Fair value gain on investment property (Note 21) – 1,437

End of financial year – 13,800

Non-current assets
Beginning of financial year – –
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 9,550 –

End of financial year 9,550 –
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10 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONT’D)

FY2012

On 5 October 2012, the Group entered into an option to purchase (“OTP”) with a buyer for the sale of the above 
investment property for a cash consideration of $13,800,000 (the “Sale”). As such, the investment property has been 
classified as current assets as at 31 December 2012. The Sale has been completed on 11 January 2013.

The carrying value of the investment property is determined based on management’s best estimates. As at 31 
December 2012, the fair value of the said property is $13,800,000 and the Group recognised a fair value gain of 
approximately $1,437,000 (Note 21).

Investment property was leased to a non-related party under operating leases (Note 29(c)).

FY2013

Investment properties are initially recognised at cost and subsequently carried at fair value. However, where the fair 
value of the investment properties under construction are not reliably measurable, the properties are measured at 
cost until the earlier of the date where construction is completed or the date which the fair value becomes reliably 
measurable. As at 31 December 2013, the investment properties are still under construction.

The following amounts are recognised in profit or loss:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Rental income 27 900
Direct operating expenses (4) (45)

As at 31 December 2013, the details of the Group’s investment properties are as follows:

Location Description Tenure

31 Tomlison Road, Tomlinson Heights 2 residential units Freehold
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11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Plant and 
equipment

Motor 
vehicles

Furniture 
and fittings

Leasehold 
improvement

Assets under 
construction Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
2013
Cost
Beginning of financial year 132 331 20 564 7,902 8,949
Additions 15 73 – – 1,648 1,736
Disposals (2) – – – – (2)
Transfer to investment 
 properties (Note 10) – – – – (9,550) (9,550)

End of financial year 145 404 20 564 – 1,133

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 95 331 3 63 – 492
Depreciation charge 
 (Note 22) 29 23 6 188 – 246
Disposals (2) – – – – (2)

End of financial year 122 354 9 251 – 736

Net book value
End of financial year 23 50 11 313 – 397

2012
Cost
Beginning of financial year 113 331 – – 3,781 4,225
Additions 23 – 20 564 4,121 4,728
Disposals (4) – – – – (4)

End of financial year 132 331 20 564 7,902 8,949

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 56 264 – – – 320
Depreciation charge 
 (Note 22) 40 67 3 63 – 173
Disposals (1) – – – – (1)

End of financial year 95 331 3 63 – 492

Net book value
End of financial year 37 – 17 501 7,902 8,457



NOTES TO THE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2013

79TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
2013 ANNUAL REPORT

11 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONT’D)

Plant and
 equipment

Motor 
vehicle

Furniture 
and fittings Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Company
2013
Cost
Beginning of financial year 114 – 19 133
Additions 10 73 – 83
Disposal (2) – – (2)

End of financial year 122 73 19 214

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 78 – 3 81
Depreciation charge 28 22 6 56
Disposal (2) – – (2)

End of financial year 104 22 9 135

Net book value
End of financial year 18 51 10 79

2012
Cost
Beginning of financial year 96 – – 96
Additions 18 – 19 37

End of financial year 114 – 19 133

Accumulated depreciation
Beginning of financial year 43 – – 43
Depreciation charge 35 – 3 38

End of financial year 78 – 3 81

Net book value
End of financial year 36 – 16 52

Included in addition of the consolidated financial statements was leasehold improvement amounting to $564,000 
for restoration cost for the financial year ended 31 December 2012.
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12 AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE FINANCIAL ASSETS

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 1,043 –
Additions – 1,072
Currency translation difference recognised in other comprehensive income 36 (29)

End of financial year 1,079 1,043

Available-for-sale financial assets are analysed as follows:
Unlisted security
 – Equity security-United States 1,079 1,043

The unlisted equity security was measured at cost less impairment losses as the investment does not have a quoted 
market price in an active market and other methods of determining fair value do not result in a reasonable estimate.

13 HELD-TO-MATURITY FINANCIAL ASSETS – NON-CURRENT

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Unlisted debt security, at amortised cost   
 – Secured notes with fixed interest of 14% and 
   maturity on 9 February 2018- United States 8,341 7,128

Movement in held-to-maturity financial assets -non-current are as follows:
Beginning of financial year 7,128 –
Additions – 6,394
Interest income 1,350 1,159
Interest received (392) (233)
Currency translation difference 255 (192)

End of financial year 8,341 7,128

The average effective interest rate of the unlisted debt security is 20.03% (2012: 20.03%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2013, the unlisted debt securities have a nominal values amounting $8,341,000 (2012: $7,128,000) 
with coupon rates 14% (2012: 14%) per annum and mature on 9 February 2018.

Held-to-maturity financial assets are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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14 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Trade payables to non-related parties 1,861 1,668 58 297
Other payables
 – Non-related parties 1,716 – – –
 – Subsidiaries – – 38,454 26,295
Financial guarantees – – 3,290 4,631
Accrued operating expenses 5,574 4,186 3,890 3,914
Rental deposit received 1,109 1,463 – –
Loan from shareholder 1,945 1,945 – –
Advances received 8,640 – – –
Others 725 132 138 –

21,570 9,394 45,830 35,137

The non-trade amounts due to subsidiaries and loan from shareholder are unsecured, interest-free and are repayable 
on demand.

The Company provides financial guarantees to banks in respect of banking facilities granted to its subsidiaries.

Included in advances received are the advance payments from customers for the purchase of development properties.

15 BORROWINGS

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Current   
Bank borrowings – 9,169

– 9,169

Non-current
Bank borrowings 139,873 136,840

Total borrowings 139,873 146,009
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15 BORROWINGS (CONT’D)

The exposure of the borrowings of the Group to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the 
end of the reporting period are as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

6 months or less 139,873 146,009

The floating interest rates were between 1.74% to 1.81% (2012: 1.68% to 1.92%) per annum. The bank borrowings are 
repayable on 29 February 2016 and 30 April 2016 or 6 months after the date of issuance of the Temporary Occupation 
Permit. These bank borrowings would be rolled over with the options of 1,2,3 and 6 month basis upon maturity.

(a) Security granted

Non-current bank borrowings are secured over certain bank deposits (Note 4) and freehold lands under 
development properties (Note 7).

(b) Fair value

The fair value of the Group’s borrowings approximates their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting 
period.

16 PROVISION FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Current     
Warranty 918 1,512 829 1,418
Legal claims – 50 – –

918 1,562 829 1,418
Non-current
Reinstatement cost 607 594 27 26

Total 1,525 2,156 856 1,444
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16 PROVISION FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES (CONT’D)

(a) Warranty

The Group grants up to 14 years of warranty on its waterproofing and construction business and undertakes to 
repair or replace items that fail to perform satisfactorily. A provision is recognised at the end of the reporting 
period for expected warranty claims based on approximately (i) 5% of the contract sum; and (ii) physical 
verification by surveyor of the defect liabilities.

Movement in provision for warranty is as follows:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 1,512 1,914 1,418 1,817
Provision utilised (125) (2) (125) (2)
Reversal (469) (400) (464) (397)

End of financial year 918 1,512 829 1,418

(b) Legal claims

Provision for legal claims is in respect of certain legal claims brought against the Group by its tenant.

Movement in provision for legal claims is as follows:

Group and Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 50 –
Provision made – 50
Provision utilised (29) –
Reversal (21) –

End of financial year – 50

(c) Reinstatement cost

The provision is based on the present value of costs to be incurred to remove leasehold improvements from 
leased office properties and land. The estimate is based on management’s judgement and experiences. The 
leased office properties and land shall expire in June 2014 and August 2015 respectively.
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16 PROVISION FOR OTHER LIABILITIES AND CHARGES (CONT’D)

(c) Reinstatement cost (Cont’d)

Movement in provision for reinstatement cost is as follows:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Beginning of financial year 594 219 26 19
Provision made 13 575 1 7
Provision utilised – (15) – –
Reversal – (185) – –

End of financial year 607 594 27 26

17 SHARE CAPITAL

No. of 
ordinary 
shares

Amount
$’000

Group and Company
2013
Beginning of financial year 11,218,023,858 122,809
Exercise of warrants 187,229,382 936

End of financial year 11,405,253,240 123,745

2012
Beginning of financial year 10,778,737,858 120,613
Exercise of warrants 439,286,000 2,196

End of financial year 11,218,023,858 122,809

Fully paid ordinary shares which have no par value, carry one vote per share and do not carry a right to fixed dividend.

During the financial year, 187,229,382 (2012: 439,286,000) ordinary shares of the Company were issued for cash 
at $0.005 each by virtue of exercise of the option by the holders of the warrants to take up unissued shares. The 
number of warrants outstanding as at 31 December 2013 totalled 7,608,879,316 which will expire on 29 September 
2015. These warrants may be converted into ordinary shares of the Company at the conversion rate of $0.005 for 
each warrant.
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17 SHARE CAPITAL (CONT’D)

In accordance with the terms and conditions of the W12062013 warrants as contained in the Deed Poll dated 14 
May 2008, the right to subscribe for new ordinary shares in the capital of the Company for the remaining 49,675,946 
W12062013 warrants had expired on 12 June 2013.

The newly issued shares rank pari passu in all respects with the previously issued shares.

Top Global Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”)

The PSP was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 8 December 
2009 and remains in force at the discretion of the Performance Share Plan Committee (“PSP Committee”), subject 
to a maximum period of ten years. The PSP shall complement the ESOS 2001 and serve as an additional and flexible 
incentive tool.

Under the rules of the PSP, all directors and employees of the Group as well as the controlling shareholders are 
eligible to participate in the PSP.

The total number of shares over which shares to be issued under the PSP, together with the number of shares 
issued under the ESOS 2001 and the ESOS 2011 shall not exceed 15% of the issued share capital of the Company 
at any time.

The PSP Committee is charged with the administration of the PSP in accordance with the rules of the PSP. The PSP 
Committee administering the PSP comprises the directors, Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel (Chairman), Dr Lam Lee G and 
Mimi Yuliana Maeloa.

None of the directors in the committee participated in any deliberation or decision in respect of shares granted 
to himself.

The number of shares to be offered to a participant shall be determined at the discretion of the PSP Committee 
provided that:

(i) the aggregate number of shares available under the PSP shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued 
shares excluding treasury shares from time to time;

(ii) the aggregate number of shares which may be offered to participants who are controlling shareholders and 
their associates shall not exceed 20% of the new shares available under the PSP;

(iii) the number of shares which may be offered to each participant who is a controlling shareholder or their 
associates shall not exceed 10% of the new shares available under the PSP; and

(iv) the aggregate number of shares available for directors and employees of the Group shall not exceed 20% 
of the new shares available under the PSP.

No shares had been granted to any participant since the commencement of the PSP.
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17 SHARE CAPITAL (CONT’D)

Share options

Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “ESOS 2011”)

The ESOS 2011 was approved by the shareholders of the Company at an Extraordinary General Meeting held on 
28 March 2011 to replace the Top Global Share Option Scheme 2001 which expired on 7 June 2011 and remains in 
force at the discretion of the ESOS 2011 Committee, subject to a maximum period of ten years.

Under the rules of the ESOS 2011, all directors and employees of the Company are eligible to participate in the ESOS 
2011. Controlling shareholders or their associates are also eligible to participate in the ESOS 2011 subject to the 
approval of independent shareholders in the form of separate resolutions for each participant. Further, independent 
shareholders’ approval is also required in the form of separate resolutions for each grant of options and the terms 
thereof, to each participant who is a controlling shareholder or their associate.

The Share Scheme Committee is charged with the administration of the ESOS 2011 in accordance with the rules 
of the ESOS 2011. The Share Scheme Committee administering the ESOS 2011 comprises the directors, Yeo Chin 
Tuan Daniel (Chairman), Dr Lam Lee G and Mimi Yuliana Maeloa.

None of the directors in the committee participated in any deliberation or decision in respect of options granted 
to himself.

The number of options to be offered to a participant shall be determined at the discretion of the Share Scheme 
Committee provided that:

(i) the total number of shares which may be offered to any participant during the entire operation of the ESOS 
2011 (including adjustments under the rules) shall not exceed 15% of the shares in respect of which the 
Company may grant options;

(ii) the aggregate number of shares which may be offered to participants who are controlling shareholders and 
their associates during the entire operation of the ESOS 2011 (including adjustments under the rules) shall 
not exceed 25% of the shares in respect of which the Company may grant options; and

(iii) the number of shares which may be offered to each participant who is a controlling shareholder or his 
associate during the entire operation of the ESOS 2011 shall not exceed 10% of the shares in respect of which 
the Company may grant options.
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17 SHARE CAPITAL (CONT’D)

Share options (Cont’d)

Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “ESOS 2011”) (Cont’d)

The exercise price for each share in respect of which an option is exercisable shall be determined by the Share 
Scheme Committee at its absolute discretion and fixed by the Committee at:

(i) a price (the “Market Price”) equal to the average of the last dealt prices for a share on the SGX-ST for the 
period of 5 consecutive market days immediately prior to the relevant offer date and rounded up to the 
nearest whole cent in the event of fractional prices; and

(ii) a price which is set at a discount to the Market Price, provided that the maximum discount shall not exceed 
20% of the Market Price.

Options granted to a participant not holding a salaried office or employment in the Group shall be exercised before 
the fifth anniversary of the relevant offer date, failing which all the unexercised options shall immediately lapse and 
become null and void.

Details of the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Number of options 

to subscribe for 

 ordinary shares of the Company 

Type of share 

options

Date of 

grant

Balance as at 

1.1.2013

Share options 

cancelled(1)

Balance as at 

31.12.2013

Exercise price 

per share

Exercise 

period

Executive – 

 Directors and 

 employees

5 April 2011 800,000,000 463,460,000 336,540,000 $0.012 5.4.2013 to 

 4.4.2021

20 April 2011 80,000,000 – 80,000,000 $0.012 20.4.2013 to 

 19.4.2021

880,000,000 463,460,000 416,540,000
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17 SHARE CAPITAL (CONT’D)

Share options (Cont’d)

Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “ESOS 2011”) (Cont’d)

Number of options 

to subscribe for 

 ordinary shares of the Company 

Type of share 

options

Date of 

grant

Balance as at 

1.1.2012

Balance as at 

31.12.2012

Exercise price 

per share

Exercise 

period

Executive – 

 Directors and 

 employees

5 April 2011 800,000,000 800,000,000 $0.012 5.4.2013 to 

 4.4.2021

20 April 2011 80,000,000 80,000,000 $0.012 20.4.2013 to 

 19.4.2021

880,000,000 880,000,000

The estimated fair values of the share options granted on 5 April 2011 and 20 April 2011 were $0.0059 and $0.0026 
respectively.

(1) The number of options granted under the ESOS 2011 had exceeded the limits set out in Mainboard Rule 845 of the SGX-ST Listing 
Manual, which the Company is required to comply following the transfer to the Mainboard on 24 December 2012. Accordingly, 
the Company had cancelled the excess share options during the financial year. Upon the cancellation, Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ 
Sukmawati Widjaja and Hano Maeloa each received 6.2% of the total share options available under the ESOS 2011.

These fair values for share options granted on 5 April 2011 and 20 April 2011 were calculated using The Black-Scholes 
pricing model. The inputs into the model were as follows:

Grant date 5 April 2011 20 April 2011

Weighted average share price $0.015 $0.010
Weighted average exercise price $0.012 $0.012
Expected volatility 56.82% 56.98%
Expected life 2 2
Risk free rate 0.47% 0.47%
Expected dividend yield Nil Nil

Expected volatility was determined by calculating the historical volatility of the Company’s share price. The expected 
life used in the model has been adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, 
exercise restrictions and behavioural considerations.

The Group and the Company recognised total employee share option expense of $632,000 (2012: $2,464,000) during 
the financial year.
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18 OTHER RESERVES

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

(a) Composition:     

Share option reserve 4,914 4,282 4,914 4,282
General reserve (51) (51) – –
Translation reserve (53) (38) – –
Fair value reserve 7 (29) – –

4,817 4,164 4,914 4,282

(b) Movements:
(i) Share option reserve

Beginning of financial year 4,282 1,818 4,282 1,818
Employee share option scheme
 Value of employee services 
  (Note 23) 632 2,464 632 2,464

End of financial year 4,914 4,282 4,914 4,282

(ii) General reserve
Effects of acquisition of 
 non-controlling interests
Beginning and end of 
 financial year (51) (51) – –

(iii) Currency translation reserve
Beginning of financial year (38) – – –
Net currency translation 
 differences of financial 
 statements of foreign 
 subsidiaries (15) (38) – –

End of financial year (53) (38) – –

(iv) Fair value reserve
Beginning of financial year (29) – – –
Available-for-sale financial assets 
 currency translation gain/(loss) 
 (Note 12) 36 (29) – –

End of financial year 7 (29) – –

Other reserves are non-distributable.
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19 REVENUE

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Rental income 4,395 5,456
Car parking income 2 7
Revenue from development properties 9,618 –
Rendering of services 24 78

14,039 5,541

20 OTHER INCOME

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Gain on disposal of associated companies – 21,191
Interest income 1,711 1,437
Dividend 37 40
Management fee income 474 425
Others 2 64

2,224 23,157

21 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) – NET

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Reversal of impairment of trade receivables – 11
Bad debts written-off (12) –
Currency translation gain/(loss) 276 (305)
Fair value gain on financial assets, at fair value through profit or loss 239 585
Gain/(loss) on disposal of property, plant and equipment 1 (3)
Loss on disposal of held-to-maturity financial assets – (92)
Provision for other liabilities and charges – (36)
Fair value gain on investment property (Note 10) – 1,437
Others – 1

504 1,598
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22 EXPENSES BY NATURE

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Commission 1,154 316
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 11) 246 173
Development cost included in cost of sales 7,966 –
Directors’ fees 240 240
Employees compensation (Note 23) 6,304 8,562
Fees on audit services paid/payable to:*
– Auditor of the Company 74 58
Fees on non-audit services paid/payable to:
– Auditor of the Company 22 3
– Other auditors 10 –
Legal and professional fees 145 (38)
Marketing expenses 2,519 2,004
Rental expenses on operating leases 2,346 2,275
Reversal of provision for warranty and legal contingencies (490) (380)
Travelling expenses 173 143
Others 1,444 838

Total cost of sales, distribution and marketing and administrative expenses 22,153 14,194

* No fees on audit services paid/payable to other auditor during current and prior financial years.

23 EMPLOYEE COMPENSATION

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Salaries, bonuses and short-term benefits 5,502 5,986
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including
 Central Provident Fund 170 112
Employee share option expense (Note 18) 632 2,464

6,304 8,562
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24 FINANCE EXPENSES

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Interest expense   
– Bank borrowings 2,468 1,595
– Accretion expense 12 4

2,480 1,599
Less: Borrowing costs capitalised in development properties (2,455) (1,491)

Finance expenses recognised in profit or loss 25 108

Borrowing costs on general financing were capitalised at a rate of 1.74% to 1.81% (2012: 1.68% to 1.92%) per annum.

25 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the Singapore standard rate of income tax is as follow:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

(Loss)/profit before income tax (5,411) 15,443
Share of results of associated companies, net of tax – 551

(Loss)/profit before income tax and share of results of associated companies (5,411) 15,994

Tax calculated at tax rate of 17% (2012: 17%) (920) 2,719
Effects of:
– Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 1,263 814
– Income not subject to tax (793) (4,202)
– Deferred income tax assets not recognised 462 669
– Utilisation of previously unrecognised tax losses (12) –

Tax charge – –

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that realisation of the related 
tax benefits through future taxable profits is probable. The Group has unrecognised tax losses of approximately 
$14,833,000 (2012: $12,183,000) at the end of the reporting period which can be carried forward and used to offset 
against future taxable income subject to the agreement of the tax authority and compliance with certain statutory 
requirements. The tax losses have no expiry date.
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26 EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic (losses)/earnings per share

Basic (losses)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders 
of the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year.

2013 2012

Net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company ($’000) (5,336) 15,599
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
 for basic (losses)/earnings per share (’000) 11,330,239 11,137,684

Basic (losses)/earnings per share (cents per share) (0.05) 0.14

(b) Diluted (losses)/earnings per share

For the purpose of calculating diluted (losses)/earnings per share, (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders 
of the Company and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding are adjusted for the 
effects of all dilutive potential shares. The Company has two categories of dilutive potential ordinary shares: 
warrants and share options.

Warrants are assumed to have been converted into ordinary shares at issuance.

For share options, the weighted average number of shares on issue has been adjusted as if all dilutive share 
options were exercised. The number of shares that could have been issued upon the exercise of all dilutive 
share options less the number of share that could have been issued at fair value (determined as the Company’s 
average share price for the financial year) for the same total proceeds is added to the denominator as the 
number of shares issued for no consideration. No adjustment is made to the net (loss)/profit.

2013 2012

Net (loss)/profit attributable to equity holders of the Company ($’000) (5,336) 15,599

Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
 for diluted (loss)/earnings per share (’000) 19,452,454 19,943,209

Diluted (losses)/earnings per share (cents per share) (0.03) 0.08
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27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the information disclosed elsewhere in the financial statements, the following transactions took place 
between the Group and related parties at terms agreed between the parties:

(a) Sales and purchases of services

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Services rendered to   
– associated companies – 336
– other related parties – 89

– 425

Services received from other related parties (137) (125)

Related parties comprise mainly companies which are controlled or significantly influenced by the Group’s 
key management personnel, directors and their close family members.

Outstanding balances at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012, arising from services rendered/received, 
are unsecured and receivable/payable within 12 months from the end of the reporting period.

(b) Key management personnel compensation

The remuneration of directors and other members of key management during the financial year are as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Salaries, bonuses and short-term benefits 4,385 4,753
Directors’ fees 240 240
Employer’s contribution to defined contribution plans including
 Central Provident Fund 33 78
Employee share option expense 632 2,464

5,290 7,535

Included in the above is total compensation to directors of the Company amounting to $4,419,000 (2012: 
$4,403,000).
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28 CONTINGENCIES

Company

As at 31 December 2013, the Company has provided corporate guarantees to banks amounting to $139,873,000 
(2012: $146,009,000) for loan taken by its subsidiaries.

Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Bank guarantees in favour of subsidiaries 158,684 164,820

The corporate guarantees issued for loans are for development properties for various projects and investment 
property of $208,635,000 (2012: $198,040,000) at the end of the reporting period.

The Company gives letter of financial support to certain subsidiaries in the Group with capital deficiency at the end 
of the reporting period.

29 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditures contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial 
statements are as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Property, plant and equipment – 9,066
Investment properties – assets under construction 7,418 –

7,418 9,066

(b) Operating lease commitments – where the Group is a lessee

The Group leases land, premises and office equipment from non-related parties under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements. The leases have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights.

The future minimum lease payables under non-cancellable operating lease contracted for at the end of the 
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities, are as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Not later than one year 2,347 2,347
Between one and five years 1,532 3,879

3,879 6,226
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29 COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)

(c) Operating lease commitments – where the Group is a lessor

The Group sublets premises to non-related parties under non-cancellable operating leases. The lessees are 
required to pay absolute fixed annual increase to the lease payments during the lease period.

The future minimum lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases contracted for at the end of 
the reporting period but not recognised as receivables, are as follows:

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Not later than one year 4,337 4,382
Between one and five years 2,846 7,228

7,183 11,610

30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to market risk (including currency risk, price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, 
liquidity risk and capital risk. The Group’s overall risk management strategy seeks to minimise any adverse effects 
from the unpredictability of financial markets on the Group’s financial performance.

The Board of Directors is responsible for setting the objectives and underlying principles of financial risk management 
for the Group. The Board of Directors then establishes the detailed policies such as authority levels, oversight 
responsibilities, risk identification and measurement and exposure limits, in accordance with the objectives and 
underlying principles approved by the Board of Directors.

(a) Market risk

(i) Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign exchange rate risk is kept at minimal level as its costs and revenues 
are all denominated in Singapore Dollar (“SGD”) except for the bank deposits, financial assets, at fair 
value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity financial assets and available-for-sale financial assets 
denominated in the United States Dollar (“USD”) and Indonesia Rupiah (“IDR”) at the end of the 
reporting period.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)

The Group’s foreign currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is as 
follows:

SGD USD IDR Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
As at 31 December 2013
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 55,359 842 116 56,317
Financial assets, at fair value 
 through profit or loss 504 2,372 – 2,876
Trade and other receivables 8,830 – – 8,830
Receivables from subsidiaries 93,115 7,095 – 100,210
Available-for-sale financial assets – 1,079 – 1,079
Held-to-maturity financial assets – 8,341 – 8,341

157,808 19,729 116 177,653

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 12,930 – – 12,930
Borrowings 139,873 – – 139,873
Payables to subsidiaries 93,115 7,095 – 100,210

245,918 7,095 – 253,013

Net financial (liabilities)/assets (88,110) 12,634 116 (75,360)
Less: Net financial liabilities/(assets) 
   denominated in functional currencies 88,110 – – 88,110

Currency exposure on financial 
 (liabilities)/assets net of those 
 denominated in the respective 
 entities functional currencies – 12,634 116 12,750

As at 31 December 2012
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 42,156 126 135 42,417
Financial assets, at fair value 
 through profit or loss 537 2,100 – 2,637
Trade and other receivables 20,816 – – 20,816
Receivables from subsidiaries 83,320 7,854 – 91,174
Available-for-sale financial assets – 1,043 – 1,043
Held-to-maturity financial assets – 7,128 – 7,128

146,829 18,251 135 165,215

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 9,394 – – 9,394
Borrowings 146,009 – – 146,009
Payables to subsidiaries 83,320 7,854 – 91,174

238,723 7,854 – 246,577

Net financial (liabilities)/assets (91,894) 10,397 135 (81,362)
Less: Net financial liabilities/(assets) 
   denominated in functional currencies 91,894 – – 91,894

Currency exposure on financial 
 (liabilities)/assets net of those 
 denominated in the respective 
 entities functional currencies – 10,397 135 10,532
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)

The Company’s foreign currency exposure based on the information provided to key management is 
as follows:

SGD USD Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

Company
As at 31 December 2013
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 35,484 842 36,326
Trade and other receivables 92,942 6 92,948

128,426 848 129,274

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 42,540 – 42,540

Net financial assets 85,886 848 86,734
Less: Net financial assets denominated 
   in functional currency (85,886) – (85,886)

Currency exposure on financial assets – 848 848

As at 31 December 2012
Financial assets
Cash and cash equivalents 38,774 485 39,259
Trade and other receivables 82,810 2 82,812

121,584 487 122,071

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 30,506 – 30,506

Net financial assets 91,078 487 91,565
Less: Net financial assets denominated 
   in functional currency (91,078) – (91,078)

Currency exposure on financial assets – 487 487
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(a) Market risk (Cont’d)

(i) Currency risk (Cont’d)

Sensitivity analysis

A 5% (2012: 5%) strengthening of Singapore Dollar against the following currencies at the reporting 
date would increase/(decrease) (loss)/profit before income tax by the amounts shown below. This 
analysis assumes that all other variables, including tax rate are being held constant.

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

USD (632) (520) (42) (24)
IDR (8) (6) – –

A 5% (2012: 5%) weakening of Singapore Dollar against the above currencies would have had the equal 
but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all other 
variables, including tax rate are being held constant.

(ii) Price risk

The Group is exposed to equity securities price risk arising from the investments held by the Group 
which are classified as fair value through profit or loss and available-for-sale financial assets on the 
consolidated statement of financial position. To manage its price risk arising from investments in equity 
securities, the Group diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with 
the limits set by the Group.

Sensitivity analysis

If prices for equity securities change by 5% with all other variables including tax rate is being held 
constant, the effects on profit or loss will be increased/decreased by approximately $198,000 (2012: 
$184,000).

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risks

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group’s and the Company’s exposure to interest rate 
risk arises primarily from their borrowings, and investments in debt securities. The Group does not 
hedge its investment in fixed rate debt securities as they have active secondary or resale markets to 
ensure liquidity. All of the Group’s and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities at floating rates 
are contractually re-priced at intervals of less than 6 months from the end of the reporting period.

Sensitivity analysis

No sensitivity analysis is prepared as the Group does not expect any material effect on the Group’s 
profit or loss and equity arising from the effects of reasonably possible changes to interest rates on 
interest bearing financial instruments at the end of the reporting period.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial 
loss to the Group. The major classes of financial assets of the Group and of the Company are bank deposits 
and trade receivables. For trade receivables, the Group has performed an ongoing credit evaluation of the 
debtors’ financial condition and requires no collateral from its customers. There is no significant concentration 
of credit risk, as the exposure is spread over a large number of counter-parties and customers unless otherwise 
disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. For other financial assets, the Group adopts the policy of 
dealing only with high credit quality counterparties.

The exposure to credit risk is controlled by setting limits on the exposure to individual customers and these 
are disseminated to the relevant persons concerned and compliance is monitored by management.

None of the trade receivables of the Group individually represents more than 10% of trade receivables as at 
31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.

Credit exposure to an individual counterparty is restricted by credit limits that are approved by the 
management based on ongoing credit evaluation. The counterparty’s payment profile and credit exposure 
are continuously monitored at the entity level by the respective management and at the Group level by the 
Chief Operating Officer.

As the Group and the Company do not hold any collateral, the maximum exposure to credit risk for each 
class of financial instruments is the carrying amount of that class of financial instruments presented on the 
statement of financial position, except as follows:

Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Corporate guarantees provided to banks   
 on subsidiaries’ borrowings 139,873 146,009

(i) Financial assets that are neither past due nor impaired

Bank deposits that are neither past due nor impaired are mainly deposits with banks with high credit-
ratings assigned by international credit-rating agencies. Trade receivables that are neither past due 
nor impaired are substantially companies with a good collection track record with the Group.
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30 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)

(b) Credit risk (Cont’d)

(ii) Financial assets that are past due and/or impaired

There is no other class of financial assets that is past due and/or impaired, except for trade receivables.

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables individually determined to be impaired and the 
movement in the related allowance for impairment are as follows:

Group and Company
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Trade receivables   
Past due over 6 months 2,045 2,045
Less: Allowance for impairment (2,045) (2,045)

– –

Movement in allowance for impairment of trade receivables:
Beginning of financial year 2,045 2,056
Allowance made – 32
Reversal of allowance made – (43)

End of financial year 2,045 2,045

Impairment of unsecured trade receivables related to customers that are in financial difficulty and 
whose payment is not forthcoming.
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(c) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as an when they fall 
due. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have 
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without 
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group’s reputation.

The Group monitors its liquidity risk and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate 
by management to finance the Group’s operations and to mitigate the effects of fluctuation in cash flows.

The table below analyses non-derivative financial liabilities of the Group and the Company into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the remaining period from the end of the reporting period to the contractual 
maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due 
within 12 months equal their carrying amounts as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Less than 
1 year

Between 
1 and 2 
years

Between 
2 and 5 
years Total

$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Group
At 31 December 2013
Trade and other payables 21,570 – – 21,570
Borrowings 2,797 2,797 140,602 146,196

24,367 2,797 140,602 167,766

At 31 December 2012
Trade and other payables 9,394 – – 9,394
Borrowings 11,632 2,463 139,892 153,987

21,026 2,463 139,892 163,381

Company
At 31 December 2013
Trade and other payables 42,540 – – 42,540
Financial guarantee liabilities 1,316 1,293 681 3,290

43,856 1,293 681 45,830

At 31 December 2012
Trade and other payables 30,506 – – 30,506
Financial guarantee liabilities 1,343 1,316 1,972 4,631

31,849 1,316 1,972 35,137
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(d) Capital risk

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern and to maintain an optimal capital structure so as to maximise shareholder value. In order to maintain 
or achieve an optimal capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividend payment, return capital 
to shareholders, issue new shares, buy back issued shares, obtain new borrowings or sell assets to reduce 
borrowings.

Management monitors capital based on a gearing ratio. The Group’s and the Company’s strategies, which 
were unchanged from 2012, are to maintain gearing ratios within 40% to 60% and 25% to 60% respectively.

The gearing ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as trade and other 
payables plus borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as total equity plus net 
debt.

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Net debt 105,126 112,986 9,504 (4,122)
Total equity 133,408 137,185 91,340 92,231

Total capital 238,534 250,171 100,844 (1)92,231

Gearing ratio 44% 45% 9% *

(1) As the Company do not have any net debt, total capital is equal to total equity.

* Net debt is in negative position indicating that cash and cash equivalents are greater than the total of trade and 
other payables. Hence, it is not meaningful to compute the gearing ratio.

The Group and the Company are in compliance with externally imposed capital requirements for the financial 
year ended 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.
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(e) Fair value measurements

The following table presents assets and liabilities measured at fair value and classified by level of the following 
fair value measurement hierarchy:

(a) quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1);

(b) inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) (Level 2); and

(c) inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs) 
(Level 3).

The following table presents the assets measured at fair value at 31 December:

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

2013
Financial assets, at fair value 
 through profit or loss 504 2,372 – 2,876
Available-for-sale financial assets – – 1,079 1,079

504 2,372 1,079 3,955

2012
Financial assets, at fair value 
 through profit or loss 537 2,100 – 2,637
Available-for-sale financial assets – – 1,043 1,043

537 2,100 1,043 3,680

The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as trading and available-for-sale securities) 
is based on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period. The quoted market price used for 
financial assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These instruments are included in Level 1.
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(e) Fair value measurements (Cont’d)

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (e.g. over-the-counter derivatives) 
is determined by using valuation techniques. The Group uses a variety of methods and makes assumptions that 
are based on market conditions existing at the end of the reporting period. Quoted market prices or dealer 
quotes for similar instruments are used to estimate fair value for long-term debt for disclosure purposes. 
Other techniques, such as estimated discounted cash flows, are used to determine fair value for the remaining 
financial instruments. These investments are classified as Level 2 and comprise debt investments and derivative 
financial instruments. In frequent circumstances, where a valuation technique for these instruments is based 
on significant unobservable inputs, such instruments are classified as Level 3.

The carrying amount less impairment provision of trade receivables and trade payables are assumed to 
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosures purposes is estimated based 
on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for similar instruments by discounting the future contractual cash 
flow at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments. The 
fair value of current borrowings approximates their carrying amount.

(f) Financial instruments by category

The carrying amount of the different categories of financial instruments is as disclosed on the face of the 
statement of financial position and in Notes 5, 12 and 13 to the financial statements, except for the following:

Group Company
2013 2012 2013 2012
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Loans and receivables 65,147 63,218 129,274 122,057
Financial liabilities at amortised cost 152,803 155,403 42,540 30,506

31 SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive 
Officer. The Group’s operating segments consist of its strategic business units which offer different services and 
are managed separately. The reportable segment presentation is based on the Group’s management and internal 
reporting structure used for its strategic decision-making purposes. Currently, the business segments operate only 
in Singapore.

Other service included in Singapore is investment holding, which is not included within the reportable operating 
segments, as this is not included in the reports provided to the Chief Executive Officer.

The Group has 2 (2012: 2) reportable segments, as described below, which are the Group’s strategic business 
units. The strategic business units offer different services, and are managed separately because they are requiring 
different marketing strategies. For each of the strategic business units, the Chief Executive Officer review the internal 
management reports on a quarterly basis. The following summary describes the operations in each of the Group’s 
reportable segments:

Property development and investment : Development of residential properties and other investment activities

Facility management : Property and facility management

The bases of measurement of the reportable segments are in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies.
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The segment information provided to the Chief Executive Officer for the reportable segments for the financial year 
ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 are as follows:

Property 
development 

and investment
Facility 

management Total
$’000 $’000 $’000

FY2013
Revenue
Sales to external parties 9,642 4,397 14,039

Gross profit 2,112 2,222 4,334

Other income 2,224
Other gains 504
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (57) (189) (246)
Rental expenses on operating leases (58) (136) (194)
Commission expense (1,154) – (1,154)
Marketing expenses (2,530) 11 (2,519)
Unallocated costs (8,335)
Finance expense (14) (11) (25)

Loss before income tax (5,411)
Income tax expense –

Loss for the year (5,411)

Total assets 295,567 809 296,376

Total liabilities 161,068 1,900 162,968

FY2012
Revenue
Sales to external parties 78 5,463 5,541

Gross profit 314 3,600 3,914

Other income 23,157
Other gains 1,598
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (40) (133) (173)
Rental expenses on operating leases (53) (120) (173)
Commission expense (7) (309) (316)
Marketing expenses (2,004) – (2,004)
Unallocated costs (9,901)
Finance expense (104) (4) (108)
Share of results of associated companies (551) – (551)

Profit before income tax 15,443
Income tax expense –

Profit for the year 15,443

Total assets 276,369 18,375 294,744

Total liabilities 146,374 11,185 157,559
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Segment profit or loss are reconciled to (loss)/profit before income tax as follows:

The amounts provided to the Chief Executive Officer with respect to (loss)/profit before income tax are measured in 
a manner consistent with that of the financial statements. These profit or loss is allocated based on the operations 
of the segment. All profit or loss are allocated to the reportable segments other than directors’ fees, employee 
compensation, audit fees, legal and professional fees, travelling expenses and others.

Group
2013 2012
$’000 $’000

Segment profit or loss for reportable segments 2,924 25,344
Other segment profit or loss
Unallocated:
Directors’ fees (240) (240)
Employee compensation (6,304) (8,562)
Audit fees (106) (61)
Legal and professional fees (145) 38
Travelling expenses (173) (143)
Others (1,367) (933)

(5,411) 15,443

The revenue from external parties reported to the Chief Executive Officer is measured in a manner consistent with 
that in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

There is no single external end customer that contributed 10% or more of the revenue.

32 NEW OR REVISED ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS

Below are the mandatory standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards that have been published, 
and are relevant for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014 or later periods and which 
the Group has not early adopted:

•	 FRS	27	(Revised)	–	Separate	Financial	Statements	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	
2014)

•	 FRS	28	(Revised)	–	Investments	in	Associates	and	Joint	Ventures	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	
or after 1 January 2014)

•	 Amendments	 to	FRS	32	–	Financial	 Instruments:	Offsetting	of	Financial	Liabilities	and	Assets	 (effective	 for	
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2014)

•	 FRS	 110	 (New)	 –	Consolidated	 Financial	 Statements	 (effective	 for	 annual	 periods	 beginning	 on	 or	 after	 1	
January 2014)

•	 FRS	110	–	Consolidated	Financial	Statements,	Joint	Agreements	and	Disclosure	of	Interest	in	Other	Entities:	
Transition Guidance (Amendments to FRS 110, FRS 111 and FRS 113) (effective for annual periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2014)

•	 FRS	111	(New)	–	Joint	Arrangements	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2014)
•	 FRS	112	(New)	–	Disclosure	of	Interests	in	Other	Entities	(effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	

1 January 2014)
•	 Amendments	to	FRS	110,	FRS	111,	FRS	112,	FRS	27	(2011)	and	FRS	28	–	Consolidated	Financial	Statements,	

Joint Agreements, Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities and Separate Financial Statements: Mandatory 
Effective Date (effective for annual periods beginnings on or after 1 January 2014)
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•	 Amendments	to	FRS	110,	FRS	111	and	FRS	112	–	Consolidated	Financial	Statements,	Joint	Agreements	and	
Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities: Transition Guidance (effective for annual periods beginnings on or 
after 1 January 2014)

•	 Amendments	to	FRS	110,	FRS	112	and	FRS	27	–	Consolidated	Financial	Statements,	Disclosure	of	Interest	in	
Other Entities and Separate Financial Statements: Investment Entities (effective for annual periods beginnings 
on or after 1 January 2014)

•	 Amendments	to	FRS	36	–	Impairment	of	Assets:	Recoverable	Amount	Disclosures	for	Non-Financial	Assets	
(effective for annual periods beginnings on or after 1 January 2014)

•	 Amendments	 to	 FRS	 39	 –	 Financial	 Instruments:	 Novation	 of	 Derivatives	 and	 Continuation	 of	 Hedge	
Accounting (effective for annual periods beginnings on or after 1 January 2014)

The management anticipates that the adoption of the above amendments to FRS in the future periods will not have a 
material impact on the financial statements of the Group and of the Company in the period of their initial adoption.

33 EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 15 January 2014, the number of ordinary shares issued by the Company increased from 11,405,253,240 to 
11,407,253,240 by way of the allotment and issuance of 2,000,000 new ordinary shares pursuant to the exercise of 
2,000,000 warrants at the exercise price of $0.005 for each new ordinary share. These new ordinary shares rank pari 
passu in all respects with the then existing issued ordinary shares in the capital of the Company.

34 AUTHORISATION OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

These financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors of 
Top Global Limited on 2 April 2014.
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SHAREHOLDINGS 
STATISTICS

AS AT 17 MARCH 2014

Issued and fully paid-up shares :  11,407,253,240
Number/Percentage of Treasury Shares :  Nil
Class of shares :  Ordinary
Voting rights :  1 vote per share

DISTRIBUTION OF SHAREHOLDERS BY SIZE OF SHAREHOLDINGS AS AT 17 MARCH 2014

SIZE OF 
SHAREHOLDINGS

NO. OF 
SHAREHOLDERS % NO. OF SHARES %

1 – 999 29 0.66 6,663 0.00
1,000 – 10,000 228 5.15 1,398,414 0.01
10,001 – 1,000,000 3,452 78.01 1,095,256,334 9.60
1,000,001 and above 716 16.18 10,310,591,829 90.39

Total 4,425 100.00 11,407,253,240 100.00

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER

Direct Interest Deemed Interest
No. of Shares % No. of Shares %

Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja 5,815,981,000 50.99 360,000,000(1) 3.16

Note:

(1) Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja has a deemed interest in the shareholdings held by her son, Mr Hano Maeloa.

SHAREHOLDING HELD IN HANDS OF PUBLIC

Based on information available to the Company as at 17 March 2014, 45.79% of the issued ordinary shares of the Company 
is held by the public and therefore Rule 723 of the Listing Manual is complied with.

TWENTY LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 MARCH 2014

SHAREHOLDER’S NAME NO OF SHARES %

1 OEI SIU HOA @ SUKMAWATI WIDJAJA 5,815,981,000 50.98
2 HANO MAELOA 360,000,000 3.16
3 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 196,328,000 1.72
4 LIM SENG KUAN 141,674,000 1.24
5 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 126,011,025 1.10
6 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 113,694,873 1.00
7 BANK OF SINGAPORE NOMINEES PTE LTD 95,600,000 0.84
8 ALI SANTOSO OR TJENDRA KASIH SANTOSO 87,164,000 0.76
9 UNITED OVERSEAS BANK NOMINEES PTE LTD 74,252,332 0.65
10 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 71,689,666 0.63
11 DBS NOMINEES PTE LTD 70,360,049 0.62
12 JANET CHAN KIM LIAN 64,000,000 0.56
13 LOO WOO SWEE @ LOH SWEE TECK 63,207,000 0.55
14 OCBC NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 60,336,332 0.53
15 TAN HOOI HONG 60,000,000 0.53
16 HONG LEONG FINANCE NOMINEES PTE LTD 55,729,000 0.49
17 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 52,417,000 0.46
18 CITIBANK NOMINEES SINGAPORE PTE LTD 44,725,000 0.39
19 GOH YONG HOCK 42,000,000 0.37
20 MAYBANK NOMINEES (SINGAPORE) PTE LTD 36,973,332 0.32

Total 7,632,142,609 66.90
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WARRANTHOLDINGS 
STATISTICS
AS AT 17 MARCH 2014

DISTRIBUTION OF WARRANTHOLDERS BY SIZE OF WARRANTHOLDINGS AS AT 17 MARCH 2014

SIZE OF 
WARRANTHOLDINGS

NO. OF
 WARRANTHOLDERS %

NO. OF 
WARRANTS %

1 –  999 56 5.74 32,903 0.00
1,000  –  10,000 23 2.36 127,422 0.00
10,001  –  1,000,000 602 61.74 252,801,445 3.32
1,000,001 and above 294 30.16 7,353,917,546 96.68

Total 975 100.00 7,606,879,316 100.00

TWENTY LARGEST WARRANTHOLDERS AS AT 17 MARCH 2014

WARRANTHOLDER’S NAME NO OF WARRANTS % %

1 OEI SIU HOA @ SUKMAWATI WIDJAJA 3,661,985,936 48.14 48.14045
2 EDWARD LEE EWE MING 1,225,305,000 16.11 16.10785
3 HANO MAELOA 270,000,000 3.55 3.54942
4 OCBC SECURITIES PRIVATE LTD 185,383,782 2.44 2.43705
5 LIM SENG KUAN 125,187,000 1.65 1.64571
6 SAMUEL NG CHEE YONG (SAMUEL WU ZHIYONG) 83,367,246 1.10 1.09595
7 POON TEO KIM 51,762,000 0.68 0.68046
8 JANET CHAN KIM LIAN 48,000,000 0.63 0.63101
9 PHILLIP SECURITIES PTE LTD 44,291,705 0.58 0.58226
10 LOO HOCK LEONG 40,000,000 0.53 0.52584
11 ONG SIOW FONG 39,565,000 0.52 0.52012
12 YANG SOK LENG 35,000,000 0.46 0.46011
13 ANG SIEW POH 32,000,000 0.42 0.42067
14 HSBC (SINGAPORE) NOMINEES PTE LTD 31,650,000 0.42 0.41607
15 UOB KAY HIAN PTE LTD 30,577,000 0.40 0.40197
16 KOK PENG LIN SHIRLEY 30,000,000 0.39 0.39438
17 TAN TZI MAIN 30,000,000 0.39 0.39438
18 TAN HOOI HONG 29,551,000 0.39 0.38848
19 MAYBANK KIM ENG SECURITIES PTE LTD 27,446,336 0.36 0.36081
20 KEA CHEE TONG @ KE CHI YET @ KIA CHEE YET 25,000,000 0.33 0.32865

Total 6,046,072,005 79.49 79.48164
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that the Annual General Meeting of the Company will be held at Orchard Hotel Singapore, 442 
Orchard Road, Singapore 238879 on 28 April 2014 at 10.00 am to transact the following businesses:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS

1. To receive and adopt the Audited Financial Statements of the Company for the financial year ended 31 December 
2013 and the Directors’ Report and the Independent Auditor’s Report thereon. (Resolution 1)

2. To re-elect the following Directors retiring pursuant to Article 106 of the Company’s Articles of Association:

(i) Dr Lam Lee G (Resolution 2a)
(ii) Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo (Resolution 2b)

Dr Lam Lee G shall, upon re-election as Director of the Company, remain as the Chairman of the Nominating 
Committee and the member of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee shall be considered independent 
for the purpose of Rule 704(8) of the Listing Manual of the Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited.
(See Explanatory Note 1)

Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo, upon re-election as Director of the Company, remain as the Executive Director of 
the Company.
(See Explanatory Note 1)

3. To approve the Directors’ fees of S$240,000 for the financial year ended 31 December 2013 (2012: S$240,000.00).
  (Resolution 3)

4. To re-appoint Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation as independent auditor of the Company and to authorise 
the Directors to fix their remuneration. (Resolution 4)

5. To transact any other ordinary business which may be properly transacted at an Annual General Meeting.

AS SPECIAL BUSINESS

To consider and, if thought fit, to pass the following ordinary resolutions with or without modifications:

6. Authority to allot and issue

“That pursuant to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50. and subject to Rule 806 of the Listing Manual of the 
Singapore Exchange Securities Trading Limited (“SGX-ST”), authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of 
the Company to allot and issue shares and convertible securities in the capital of the Company (whether by way 
of rights, bonus or otherwise) at any time and upon such terms and conditions and for such purposes and to such 
persons as the Directors may in their absolute discretion deem fit provided that:–

(i) the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be issued pursuant to this resolution does not 
exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company 
(as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below), of which the aggregate number of shares and 
convertible securities to be issued other than on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company 
does not exceed twenty per cent (20%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the 
Company (as calculated in accordance with sub-paragraph (ii) below);
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(ii) (subject to such manner of calculations as may be prescribed by the SGX-ST), for the purpose of determining 
the aggregate number of shares that may be issued under sub-paragraph (i) above, the total number of issued 
shares excluding treasury shares shall be based on the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares 
of the Company at the time this resolution is passed after adjusting for:–

(a) new shares arising from the conversion or exercise of any convertible securities;

(b) new shares arising from exercising share options or vesting of share awards outstanding or subsisting 
at the time of the passing of the resolution approving the mandate, provided the options or awards 
were granted in compliance with Part VIII of Chapter 8 of the Listing Manual of the SGX-ST; and

(c) any subsequent bonus issue, consolidation or sub-division of shares; and

(iii) unless revoked or varied by the Company in general meeting, the authority conferred by this resolution shall 
continue in force until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting or the date by which the next 
Annual General Meeting of the Company is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.”

(See Explanatory Note 2) (Resolution 5)

7. Authority to offer and grant options and to allot and issue shares in accordance with the Top Global Share 
Option Scheme 2011

“That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to offer and grant options from time to 
time in accordance with the provisions of the Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “Scheme”), and, pursuant 
to Section 161 of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares in the 
capital of the Company as may be required to be issued pursuant to the exercise of options granted under the 
Scheme, provided that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant to the Scheme and the Top Global 
Performance Share Plan shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the 
Company from time to time, as determined in accordance with the provisions of the Scheme.”
(See Explanatory Note 3) (Resolution 6)

8. Authority to grant awards and to allot and issue shares under the Top Global Performance Share Plan

“That authority be and is hereby given to the Directors of the Company to grant awards from time to time in 
accordance with the provisions of the Top Global Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”), and, pursuant to Section 161 
of the Companies Act, Cap. 50, to allot and issue from time to time such number of shares as may be required to be 
issued pursuant to the release of awards granted under the PSP, provided that the aggregate number of shares to 
be issued pursuant to the PSP and the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares excluding 
treasury shares of the Company from time to time, as determined in accordance with the provisions of the PSP.”
(See Explanatory Note 4) (Resolution 7)
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9. The Proposed Renewal of the Share Purchase Mandate

“That the Directors of the Company be and are hereby authorised to make purchases of issued and fully-paid 
ordinary shares in the capital of the Company (“Shares”) from time to time (whether by way of market purchases or 
off-market purchases on an equal access scheme) of up to ten per cent. (10%) of the issued ordinary shares in the 
capital of the Company (ascertained as at date of the last annual general meeting of the Company or at the date 
of the Annual General Meeting, whichever is the higher, but excluding any Shares held as treasury shares) at the 
price of up to but not exceeding the Maximum Price, in accordance with the “Guidelines on Share Purchases” set 
out in Appendix A of the Explanatory Statement to Ordinary Resolution 8 and this mandate shall, unless revoked or 
varied by the Company in general meeting, continue in force until the date that the next annual general meeting 
of the Company is held or is required by law to be held, whichever is the earlier.

In this Ordinary Resolution 8, “Maximum Price”, means the maximum price at which the Shares can be purchased 
pursuant to the Shares Purchase Mandate, which shall not exceed the sum constituting five per cent. (5%) above 
the average closing price of the Shares over the period of five (5) trading days in which transactions in the Shares 
on the SGX-ST were recorded, in the case of a market purchase, before the day on which such purchase is made, 
and, in the case of an off-market purchase on an equal access scheme, immediately preceding the date of offer by 
the Company, as the case may be, and adjusted for any corporate action that occurs after the relevant five (5) day 
period”.
(See Explanatory Note 5) (Resolution 8)

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

LEE BEE FONG (MS)
Company Secretary
11 April 2014
Singapore
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EXPLANATORY NOTES:

1. In relation to the ordinary resolution proposed in item 2 above, save as disclosed herein, there are no relationship 
(including immediate family relationship) between Dr Lam Lee G and Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo and with the 
other Directors, the Company or its 10% shareholders respectively and the detailed information on the Directors 
are set out on page 4 to 6 of this Annual Report.

2. The ordinary resolution proposed in item 6 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company from 
the date of the above Meeting until the date of the next Annual General Meeting, to allot and issue shares and 
convertible securities in the Company. The number of shares and convertible securities, which the Directors of 
the Company may allot and issue under the ordinary resolution 5 shall not exceed fifty per cent (50%) of the total 
number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company at the time of passing the ordinary resolution 
5. For allotment and issue of shares and convertible securities other than on a pro-rata basis to all shareholders of 
the Company, the aggregate number of shares and convertible securities to be allotted and issued shall not exceed 
twenty per cent (20%) of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company. This authority 
will, unless previously revoked or varied at a general meeting, expire at the next Annual General Meeting.

3. The ordinary resolution proposed in item 7 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to offer and 
grant options under the Top Global Share Option Scheme 2011 (the “Scheme”) and to allot and issue shares pursuant 
to the exercise of such options under the Scheme and the Top Global Performance Share Plan not exceeding 15% 
of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of the Company from time to time.

4. The ordinary resolution proposed in item 8 above, if passed, will empower the Directors of the Company to grant 
awards under the Top Global Performance Share Plan (the “PSP”) and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the 
release of such awards under the PSP, provided always that the aggregate number of shares to be issued pursuant 
to the PSP and the Scheme shall not exceed 15% of the total number of issued shares excluding treasury shares of 
the Company from time to time.

5. The ordinary resolution proposed in item 9 above, if passed, will be effective until the next Annual General Meeting 
of the Company, the Share Purchase Mandate for the Company to make purchases or acquisitions of its issue shares. 
The Company intends to use internal sources of funds, external borrowings, or a combination of internal resources 
and external borrowings, to finance purchases or acquisitions of its shares. Please refer to the Appendix A of the 
Explanatory Statement to Ordinary Resolution 8 on Proposed Renewal of Share Purchase Mandate dated 11 April 
2014.
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NOTES:

1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two 
proxies to attend and vote in his stead.

2. A proxy need not be a member of the Company.

3. If the appointor is a corporation, the proxy must be executed under seal or the hand of its duly authorised officer 
or attorney.

4. The instrument appointing a proxy must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 1 Scotts Road 
#20-03/04 Shaw Centre Singapore 228208 not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for the Meeting.
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PROXY FORM
TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Republic of Singapore)
(Company Registration No. 198003719Z)

IMPORTANT
1. For investors who have used their CPF monies to buy the Company’s 

shares, the Annual Report is forwarded to them at the request of their CPF 
Approved Nominees and is sent FOR INFORMATION ONLY.

2. This Proxy Form is not valid for use by CPF Investors and shall be ineffective 
for all intents and purposes if used or purported to be used by them.

I/We 
of 
being *a member/members of TOP GLOBAL LIMITED (the “Company”), hereby appoint

Name Address NRIC/Passport No.
Proportion of shareholdings to be 

represented by proxy (%)

* and/or, failing him/her

Name Address NRIC/Passport No.
Proportion of shareholdings to be 

represented by proxy (%)

or failing *him/her/them, the Chairman of the Meeting as *my/our *proxy/proxies to attend and vote for *me/us on *my/
our behalf and, if necessary, to demand a poll, at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held at Orchard Hotel 
Singapore, 442 Orchard Road, Singapore 238879 on 28 April 2014 at 10:00 am and at any adjournment thereof.

*I/We direct *my/our proxy/proxies to vote for or against the Ordinary Resolutions to be proposed at the Annual General 
Meeting as indicated with an “X” in the spaces provided hereunder. If no specific directions as to voting are given, the 
*proxy/proxies will vote or abstain from voting at *his/their discretion, as he/they will on any other matter arising at the 
Annual General Meeting.

No. Resolutions relating to: For Against

1. Audited Accounts, Directors’ Report and Auditors’ Report for the financial year ended 
31 December 2013

2a. Re-election of Dr Lam Lee G

2b. Re-election of Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo

3. Directors’ fees for the financial year ended 31 December 2013

4. Re-appointment of Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation as Auditors of the 
Company

5. Authority to allot and issue shares pursuant to Section 161 of the Singapore Companies 
Act (Cap. 50)

6. Authority to grant options and to allot and issue shares pursuant to the Top Global 
Share Option Scheme 2011

7. Authority to grant awards and to allot and issue shares under the Top Global 
Performance Share Plan

8. Authority to renew the Share Purchase Mandate

Dated this  day of  2014 Total No. of Shares No. of Shares

In CDP Register

In Register of Members

Signature(s) of Member(s)/
Common Seal of Corporate Shareholder
* Delete accordingly

IMPORTANT: Please read notes overleaf



NOTES:
1. A member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint not more than two 

proxies to attend and vote in his stead. Such proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2. Where a member of the Company appoints two proxies, he shall specify the proportion of his shareholding (expressed as a 
percentage of the whole) to be represented by each such proxy.

3. The instrument appointing a proxy or proxies must be under the hand of the appointor or his attorney duly authorised in writing. 
Where the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies is executed by a corporation, it must be executed under its common seal or 
under the hand of its attorney or duly authorised officer.

4. A corporation which is a member of the Company may authorise by resolution of its directors or other governing body such person 
as it thinks fit to act as its representative at the Annual General Meeting, in accordance with its Articles of Association and Section 
179 of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore.

5. The instrument appointing proxy or proxies, together with the power of attorney or other authority (if any) under which it is signed, 
or notarially certified copy thereof, must be deposited at the registered office of the Company at 1 Scotts Road #20-03/04 Shaw 
Centre Singapore 228208 not less than 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

6. A member should insert the total number of shares held. If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository 
Register (as defined in Section 130A of the Companies Act, Chapter 50 of Singapore), he should insert that number of shares. If 
the member has shares registered in his name in the Register of Members of the Company, he should insert the number of shares. 
If the member has shares entered against his name in the Depository Register and shares registered in his name in the Register 
of Members of the Company, he should insert the aggregate number of shares. If no number is inserted, this form of proxy will 
be deemed to relate to all the shares held by the member of the Company.

7. The Company shall be entitled to reject the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies if it is incomplete, improperly completed 
or illegible or where the true intentions of the appointor are not ascertainable from the instructions of the appointor specified 
in the instrument appointing a proxy or proxies. In addition, in the case of members of the Company whose shares are entered 
against their names in the Depository Register, the Company may reject any instrument appointing a proxy or proxies lodged 
if such members are not shown to have shares entered against their names in the Depository Register 48 hours before the time 
appointed for holding the Annual General Meeting as certified by The Central Depository (Pte) Limited to the Company.

8. A Depositor shall not be regarded as a member of the Company entitled to attend the Annual General Meeting and to speak and 
vote thereat unless his name appears on the Depository Register 48 hours before the time set for the Annual General Meeting.

AFFIX
STAMP

The Company Secretary

TOP GLOBAL LIMITED
1 Scotts Road #20-03/04
Shaw Centre
Singapore 228208



Contents
01 | FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

02 | LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

04 | BOARD OF DIRECTORS

07 | MANAGEMENT TEAM

08 | PT SURYAMAS DUTAMAKMUR TBK

10 | THE MAISONS

11 | THE QUINN

12 | FACILITY MANAGEMENT

13 | GROUP STRUCTURE

14 | FINANCIAL REVIEW

15 | CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

33 | FINANCIAL CONTENTS

Designed and produced by

(65) 6578 6522

CORPORATE
DATA

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Madam Oei Siu Hoa @ Sukmawati Widjaja

(Executive Chairman)

Mr Hano Maeloa

(Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director)

Ms Jennifer Chang Shyre Gwo

(Chief Operating Officer and Executive Director)

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel

(Lead Independent Director)

Dr Lam Lee G

(Independent Director)

Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

(Non-Executive Director)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel

(Chairman)

Dr Lam Lee G

Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

NOMINATING COMMITTEE

Dr Lam Lee G

(Chairman)

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel

Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr Yeo Chin Tuan Daniel

(Chairman)

Dr Lam Lee G

Ms Mimi Yuliana Maeloa

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms Lee Bee Fong

AUDITORS

Nexia TS Public Accounting Corporation

100 Beach Road

Shaw Tower #30-00

Singapore 189702

(Director-in-charge: Chin Chee Choon

appointment commenced from the audit of 

the financial statements for the year ended 

31 December 2009)

REGISTRAR & SHARE REGISTRATION OFFICE
Tricor Barbinder Share Registration Services
(A division of Tricor Singapore Pte Ltd)
80 Robinson Road
#02-00
Singapore 068898

REGISTERED OFFICE
1 Scotts Road
#20-03 Shaw Centre
Singapore 228208

WEBSITE
http://www.topglobal.com.sg

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Overseas-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited
65 Chulia Street
#11-00 OCBC Centre
Singapore 049513

Australia & New Zealand Banking Group Limited
10 Collyer Quay
#30-00, Ocean Financial Centre
Singapore 049315

Bank of East Asia, Singapore Branch
60 Robinson Road, 
BEA Building, 
Singapore 068892

SGX INFORMATION
Counter name: TopGlobal
SGX code: 519
Bloomberg code: TGL:SPSee our company announcements at  

http://topglobal.listedcompany.com/

newsroom.html or scan this QR code 

with your smart phone.



TOPGLOBAL
LIMITED

2013 ANNUAL REPORT

T
O

P
 G

L
O

B
A

L
 L

IM
IT

E
D

2
0

13
 A

N
N

U
A

L
 R

E
P

O
R

T

1 Scotts Road | #20-03 Shaw Centre | Singapore 228208
Tel: (65) 6746 4333 | Fax: (65) 6746 4948

Registration No.198003719Z Excellence
Setting up standard of


